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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
_FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Business Review
The Company’s principal activity is the supply of materials and services to the construction industry.

Turnover for the year decreased by £17,981,000 from £1,100,884,000 to £1,082,003,000 a fall of approximately
2%. The Operating profit before exceptional items decreased by £7,622,000 from £76,109,000 to £68,487,000.

An assessment of the impact of changmg market conditions on the business was undertaken durlng the year
and as a result the Company reversed the impairment of tangible fixed assets made in prevnous years by
£7,350,000 due to the increases in sales volumes and prices and the cost management in individual Cash
Generating Units. This has been treated as an exceptional item.

The Company's program of divestment of surplus land holdings continued through 2024, realising a net profit on
disposal of £15,618,000. ' .
During the year, the Company received dividends totalling £40,010,000 from its subsidiaries, £20,010,000 from
Midland Quarry Products Limited and £20,000,000 from Hanson Building Materials Europe Limited.

In January 2024, the Company offset £20,753,000 of its intercompany receivéble from Hanson Quarry Products
Ventures Limited against its liability of £20,753,000 to Hanson Quarry Products Ventures Limited to fully settle its
debt and assigned £134,584,000 of its mtercompany receivable due from Hanson Limited to Houserate Limited
to fully settle its liability. -

On 3 May 2024, the Compaiiy completed the purchase of the sharc capltal of Mick George Limited togother with
some of its subsidiaries, as part of the Company's strategy to, meet its sustainability commitments to
progressively move to a more circular business model. The purchase price for the shares consisted of initial
consideration of £159,648,000 and deferred and contingent consideration of £18,738,000. To complete the
acquisition of Mick George Limited the Company was required to divest five concrete sites and two quarries by
the Competition and Market Authority (CMA), realising a net profit on disposal of £4,549,000. At completion the
Company subscribed for a loan note issued by Mick George Limited for £70,000,000 to refinance bank
borrowings and provide Mick George Limited and its subsidiaries with working capital.

On 17 May 2024, the Company purchased the share capital of Bristol & Avon Group Limited together with some
of its subsidiaries and Balla Homes Ltd, to pfovide high quality recycled materials to bolster sustainable business
materials. The purchase price for the shares in Bristol & Avon Group Limited consisted of initial consideration
£48,335,000 and additional and contingent conslderatuon of £4,898,000 and the acquisition price for the shares
in Balla Homes Ltd amounted to £691,000. ’

On 30 November 2024, the Hanson No. 2 Pension Scheme (No 2 Schome) sponsored by a fellow group
undertaking, Hanson Building Materials Limited, was merged into the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (the
"Scheme"), which is sponsored by the Company. The transaction resulted in the transfer of the defined benefit
pension asséts and obligations of the No 2 Scheme into the Scheme. The merger did not result in any changes
to the benefits provided to the members of either scheme.

At the year end the Company impaired it investment in Hanson Building Materials Europe Limited by
£33,312,000 following the receipt of a dividend and a deterioration in the performance of the Company's
operating subsidiaries. This has been treated as an exceptional item.

Directors' statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
Section 172(1) Statement

This report sets out how the Directors have complied with section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 in making
its strategic decisions during 2024 and in considering the likely long-term consequonces of those decisions and
the need to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct. This has involved engagement with all
of the Company's key stakeholders to ensure that the Directors understand their views and interests when
making decisions and when developing the Company's purpose, values and strategy. The Directors ensure that
they listen to and consider the interests of the Company’s stakeholders and that they foster relationships with the
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HANSON QUARRY- PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Directors’ statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
{continued)

Company's customers and suppliers. The Directors work to ensure the sustainability of the Company’s
operations within local communities in the context of the poténtial impact on the local environment.

Heldelberg Materials UK Sustainability Policy

Effective management of safety, health, environment, quality, carbon reduction and responsible sourcing is of
key importance to the sustained success of the Company's business. The Company's sustainability objectives
are reviewed regularly and communicated regularly to employees, contractors, visitors, key stakeholders and our
supply chain to inform and promote wider adoption of responsible practices. As a minimum, as'a Heidelberg
Materials UK company, the Company complies with all applicable law and regulatory requirements. Cooperation
in the implementation of Heidelberg Materials UK's sustainability policy is a condition of employment, partnership
and supply.

Full details of Heidelberg Materials UK's Sustainability Policy can be found on the Heidelberg Materials UK
website at www.heidelbergmaterials.co.uk. The policy sets out Heidelberg Materials UK's sustainability
objectives in terms of. ensuring business and product innovation by engaging with customers and stakeholders
to continually improve Heideiberg Materials UK's sustainability performance and adopt an integrated approach to
achieve the highest standards in complying with ISOs 9001, 14001, 45001, 45003 and 50001, also PAS 2080
and BES 6001:Issue 4.0, and National Highway Sector Scheme 16; ensuring health, safety and wellbeing in the
workplace; ensuring environmental responsibility to collaborate with suppliers and fulfil Heidelberg Materials UK's
share of ' respansibility to limit global temperature rise to below 1,5°C; conserving naturai resources and
maximising the use of alternative materials and recycling; being a good neighbour and fulfilling our social value
requirements based. upon transparency and consultation, staff volunteering on community projects, with local
jobs and local procurement; and being a fair, respectful and inclusive campany.

During 2024 the Company continued to roll out its Heidelberg Materials UK 2030 commitments in relation to the
four key pillars: net zero, safe and inclusive, nature positive and circular and resilient revenue. The 2024
Sustainability Report sets out the 2030 targets and records progress towards attainment of these objectives.

‘In 2023 the Company updated and revised its social value policy which is available on the Heidelberg Materials
UK website www.heidelbergmaterials.co.uk. The social value policy is founded on our core values and
responsible leadership principles and applies to all areas of our business, our employees and all parties who
undertake activity on our behalf. It focusses on six key areas of social value: collaboration, co-equality,
championing local economies, community, climate and' communication. it follows the national TOMS (Themes,
Outcomes and Measures) framework and integrates our health, safety and wellbeing, and environmental
commitments. A steering group ensures the principles of the policy are embedded within the business. During
2024 further work was undertaken to enhance, measure and record Heidelberg' Materials UK's social value
impact afier it had achieved certification to Social Value UK's Level 1 'Commit’ stage of accreditation, and a
widor social value strategy was developed for 2024 and 2026.

2024

The Company completed two significant strategic acquisitions in May 2024. Firstly, following approval from the
Competition and Markets Authority (CMA), the Company acquired Mick George Limited togsther with some of its
subsidiaries, a company specialising in recycling and waste management services and based in East Anglia and
the East Midlands. Secondly, the Company completed the acquisition of B&A Group Limited together with some
of its subsidiaries, a Bristol based company which specialises in the supply of recycled aggregates.

Both these acquisitions are consistent with the Company’s sustainability commitment to reaching net zero as it
progressively moves to a more circular business model by recycling, reusing and reducing the use of primary
raw materials. The newly acquired large number of recycling facilities should help to develop new technologies
for processing waste and upgrading it for use as raw materials in the building industry.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 .
Directors’ statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
(continued)

2024 (continued)

Within the Company's aggregates business, the Company commenced, continued or completed various
strategic investments through 2024. These included:

« obtaining permission from Somerset Council to apen a quarry at Westdown, near Frome, which will reduce
road mileage from the Company’s Whatley operation as well as decreasing the distance for materials to be
supplied to customers;

« a comprehensive review of how large volumes of materials can be delivered to Snzewell B power station in
Suffolk via ship and rail to reduce environmental impact;

« the installation of a new siding at Horton Quarry, in the North Dales National Park, to reconnect the quarry by
rail.

Within the Company's asphalt business, various investments were made across tho portfolio of plants including:
* new dryer drum and burners, as part of an ongoing replacement programme, which reduces energy
consumption and carbon emissions;

- covered storage for asphalt planings which reduces the energy consumption requnred to heat the materials and
reduces carbon emissions;

+ an innovative hydrogen and LPG installation at Criggion asphalt plant which will contmue into 2025,

Within the Company’s concrete business, the Company commenced, continued to progress or completed the
following investments:

- replacement of the concrete production facilities at Bridgwater and a secondary plant at Teesport allowing for
new standards in efficiency, energy usage and emissions management;

+ completed its investment, commenced in 2023, in 52 new truck mixers designed to the latest specification to
replace the ageing fleet of delivery vehicles, improving road safety and vehicle-based emissions;

- set-up of innovative remote batch hub in Cardiff for the South Wales business which controls all the production
facilities from a central location, improving efficiencies, working conditions, and safety on site.

The Company’s contracting division continued its approach of collaborative working with major customers in
relation to highways operations. In 2024 the contracting business continued to deliver road resurfacing services
to key clients. It provided resurfacing services on the strategic road network (SRN) to National Highways under
its Pavement Framework contract and on the road network to various construction: companies and local
authorities.

in general, all.of our.investments are made in the interests of ensuring long term sustainable.production to
service our customers and the continuity of safe operations for our workforce, delivering value for Heidelberg
Materials UK and our parent company and developing meaningful partnerships with our suppliers; investments in
new operations facilitate reductions in energy usage, water usage and emissions, lessening the impacts on both
the environment and communities.

Information relating to the Company's investments; improvements, performance, outlook and sustainability was
presented to our stakeholders through various channels. For employees, this included the Employee Forum, a
series of virtual town hall talks presented by the Heidelberg Materials UK chief executive officer, driver forums
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HANSON QUARRY.PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Directors' statement of compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company
(continued)

2024 (continued)

and driver engagementidays and management meetings withitrade unions. Regular updates from Heidelberg;
Materials UK's CEO and business line managing directors on business performance and strategy were provided
to the workforce in 2024.

Further investments and improvements in the interest of sustainability and lessening the potential for impact on
communities and the environment included:

« the establishment_of a biodiversity action plan for every one of our active quarries as well:as a number of
geodiversity action plans;

« leading the industry’s consultation response with the Mineral Products Association ("MPA") on the testing and
development of the Biodiversity Net Gain metric;

« delivering crushed rock, sand and gravel by rail and sea wherever possible, saving hundreds of thousands of
lorry miles and the associated emissions every year, with each delivery of stone at the Hinkley Point C jetty
taking around 250 lorry-loads off the road,;

- implementation of water management plans at preduction sites toiimprove the monitoring, .recording and
efficient use of water on the Company’s sites, including working closely with Waterscan to identify and repair
mains water leaks;,

» increasing the usage of recycled asphalt planings (RAP) in new asphalt mixes;

- promotion of,the ERA range of warm mix asphalts that typically reduce carbon emissions by 15% compared'
with standard mixes,

» new washing plants at our quarries to create a new manufactured sand for use in concrete as a substitute for
land-won and marine sand;

« launch of our. evoBuild range of concrete products to the Company's customers, with the products -either
offering a significantly lower CO2 reduction or containing at least 30% recycled content or using at least 30%
less material.

Occupational health and safety is one of the Company’s core values, as a Heidelberg Materials UK company,
and a fundamental element of our work processes. it is well understood that the health and wellbeing of the
business’'s employees, contractore as well as people in the local-communities, together with a safe working
environment, is key to a successful, productive business and the Company therefore prioritises the reduction of
risks leading to accidents, injuries and occupational iliness in order to achieve the declared aim of Heidelberg
Materials UK to do zero harm. The Company’s principles for protecting its own employees, contractors as well
as those of third parties are spocified in the Heidelberg Materials UK policy on occupational heatth and eafety.

In order to minimise and prevent risks for our employees, customers, suppliers, and other third parties, regular
risk assessments were carried out at our locations so that all risks could be evaluated and appropriate protective
measures taken. The Company focused on the potentially fatal six risks set out in the business's 2024 Health
and Safety improvement plan. The Company also continued to roll out the Heidelberg Materials UK mental
health awareness and training programme throughout its business.

Steps taken during 2024 to ensure maintenance of a reputation for high standards of business conduct included
training staff in many different compliance areas, covering. our Code of Business Conduct, corruption and
anti-bribery, competition law, data protection and modern slavery, all supported by a regime of policies and
procodures that underpin the Company’s purpose and values; the compliance program is supported by an online
reporting platform that allows concems to be reported and investigated outside of reporting lines.

Further information relating to the Company's work at its larger quarries in relation to local' community
engagement, biodiversity, local career opportunities and its work on reducing energy and water consumption,
can be found on the Heidelberg Materials UK community website www.communities.heidelbergmaterials.co.uk.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
Climate-related Financial Disclosures

The Company recognises the global importance and potential impact of climate-related issues. This disclosure

rincludes information on how climate change is being addressed by corporate governance, its impact on strategy,

how climate-related risks and opportunities are being managed, and the relevant performance mctrics and
targets applied.

The Company monitors climate-related risks, physical and transition, and the opportunities this presents that
could reasonably be expected to impact the Company.

The nature of the Company’s business primarily involves the production and distribution of aggregates, ready-
mixed concrete, and asphait.

The Company’s business mode) encompasées the entire value chain, from the extraction of raw materials,
processing and recycling through to the sales and distribution of the end products to customers. The products
are used, far infrastructure, traffic routes (roads and rail), commercial and industrial facilities and the construction
of houses.

Overview of products:

Aggregates (sand, gravel, and crushed rock) are the main component in the production of concrete and asphalit
and are also used as base courses in the construction of infrastructure, such as roads and rail. To some extent,
aggregates are also obtained from recycled products.

Concrete is a mixture of aggregates (about 80%), cement (about 12%), and water (about 8%).

Cement typically consists of almost 100% clinker; composite cements, in which a portion of the clinker is
replaced by alternative materials, such as fly ash and ground' granulated blast furnace Slag (GGBS), can
enhance cement properties and reduce CO2 emissions associated with concrete product, such as EcoCrete.

Asphalt is a mixture of aggregates (about 85%) and bitumen (about 5§%), which is generally used as a top layer
in road construction.

Governance

The Chief Sustainability Officer at Heidelberg Materials AG has oversight of Environmental, Soclal and
Governance (“ESG") matters across the Group, including chmate-fela‘ed financial risks. i

The following organogram provides an overview of the responslbllmes of the various climate-related bodies
across the Group.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED,

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED) , >
FOR/THE YEAR ENDED 31'DECEMBER 2024
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (continued):

Govemance Organogram

Heidelberg Materials AG

Managing Boerd
Merdelberg Materials AG Heidetbarg Materials AG
Director Grouwp Tressury, Group Insurance & Chief Sustainabiity Officer
Corporate Risk .
Medeiberg Materials AG Heidelberg Materials AG
Gooup Iasursace and Carporate Rigk Team (GICR) $ustes. nability and Innovation Committee
—‘ Heideberg Materlals AG . 5
Hedeiberg Matesals AG il Heidelberg Materiats AG
Regona! Chief Exexutive Officer and Finarce The Sustanabality Office
Corporate Risk Co-Ordinator Orvrector
I i
Country
Executive Teams
Country
Rk & C b Teams £5G Co-Ordinators :
Country ' . Country
Ttee
intemal Controd, Ritk, tnsurance & Frauvd Teams ! - ESG Revorting Steering cm’?' F—' Sustainabdity Teamt

The Managing Board of Heidelberg Materials AG (“the'Managing Board")'has oversight of strategy, guiding the
development of transition, plans, setting of targets, agreeing climate-related employee incentives, integrating
climate-related issues into strategy and coordinating climate-related risk and opportunities. The Managing Board
is advised by the Chief Sustainability Officer who is the highest individual with responsibility of: ESG related
issues. The Chief Sustainability Officer is assisted by the Sustainability and Innovation Committee, which reports
on all aspects of sustainability, including the decarbonisation roadmap, reduction of carbon footprints and
innovation and growth opportunities. The Sustainability Office advises on sustainability’ across the Group to
ensure that sustainability criteria are incorporated. into every decision and is led by the Chief Sustainability
Officer.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Climate-related Financial Disclosures (continued)

The Managing Board are also advised by the Director Group Treasury, Group Insurance & Corporate Risk on
climate related risk. Country Risk and Insurance Managers are responsible for the assessment and
managemenl of a given risk (avoid, riinimize, transfer of risk to a thind party). Country ESG Coordinators attend
ESG Coordinator meetings facilitated by Heidelberg Materials AG, to discuss ESG strategy and actions.

At a country level, ESG strategy and actions are overseen by ESG Coordinators, who report material risks and
opportunitios; integrate climate related risk and opportunities into strategy; and consider metrics and targets from
a country perspective. The ESG Reporting Steering Committees meet periodically to assess and review internal
gap assessments, new ESG regulations, data collection processes and remediation steps and additional
information to be reported at a country level. Executive Teams meet regularly and discuss the CO2 roadmap,
sustainability risks and opportunities, and business specific climate-related impacts, including energy KPls,
carbon trackers and key projects and initiatives.

Risk Management

The risk management process is managed at both the Heidelberg Materials AG and country level combining a
bottom-up reporting of risks and a top-down global analysis of climate-related physical and transition risk
exposure,

Risks are assessed qualitatively and, wherever possible, supplemented with quantitative appraisals. As part of
the regular risk management proceas, idontified risks are monitored and posaible risk avoidance and reduction
measures are evaluated.

Climate-related financial risks are identified at a country level and reported to Heidelberg Materials AG, in line
with the enterprise risk management framework. The Group insurance and Corporate Risk team (GICR)
identifies risk at a global level and feeds into the broader global risk map.

The GICR presents a Risk Report on a quarterly basis to the Managing Board at a risk management team
meeting.

The Executive Team sets up and supervises intemal controls and risk management systems. They have
respongibility for the scope and organisation of the ectablished systems. The process of identification within the
regular risk management process is supplemented by ad-hoc risk reports in the event of a sudden occurrence of
serious risk.

Climate risk assessments are also performed on a project-by-project basis and fed into the formal capital
approval process.

Time periods by reference to which those risks and opportunities are assessed are as follow:

Time Definition | Rationale

Short Current to | Short term relates to regular business and financial planning routines as well as
2025 existing and readily foreseeable regulatory requirements.

Medium | Current to | The medium term is defined as the time horizon that goes beyond that of regular
2030 strategic planning, but for which a strategic roadmap exists.

Long 2030 Long term refers to the time horizons that extend beyond the next ten years. In the
onwards climate scenarios, this Is the 2030 and 2050 time horizon.
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HANSON QUARRY.PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE-YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Climate-related Financlal Disclosures (continued)

Climate scenario analysis has been considered and can be found in the Heidelberg' Materials AG 2024 Annual
and Sustainability Report. For this reporting cycle, assessments to help inform a shortlist of risks that could have
a material impact on the business to be assessed further. More details on the scenarios used to assess climate-
related risks and opportunities, as well as potential mitigations can be found.in the Strategy section of these
disclosures.

Climate risks and opportunities are typically divided into two categories:

« Transition risks (or opportunities) are viewed as those associated with transitioning to a low carbon economy
that may result from regulation, technology, reputational and market responses.

¢ Physical risks are the exposure of assets or value chain to physical hazards caused by the effects of climate
change (e.q. flooding or heat stress).

Transition and physical'risks can»manifest, over different time horizons. The potentialtimpact under various
temperature scenarios and transition pathways can be assessed through climate scenario analysis. In the future
reporting, further climate scenario analysis will be considered to assess additional risks and opportunities*and
sensitivities to these risks and opportunities.

Strategy

The climate-related risks and opportunities are ‘assessed as material for. the current year and plans to fully
analyse the potential impact of the climate-related nsks and opportunities on strategy and business model in
future periods are in progress.

Scenario overview

Scenario.analysis allows for the identification and analysis of the potential |mpllcat|ons of-a range of plausible
future states. Scenarios are not designed:to deliver precise outcomes or'forecasts. They are intended to
illustrate a potential range of impacts of certain risks or assumptions and have been applied qualitatively for this
assessment.

The Scenario analysis referenced in the Heidelberg Materials AG 2024°Annual and Sustainability Report makes
qualitative assessments at regional levels:

Scenario selection

When selecting scenarios,, UK-CFD recommends considenng both 1.5°C and 4°C scenarios as -options to
assess a "well’below 2°C” Paris-aligned transition scenario, as well as a scenario consistent:with increased
physical risk. Conducting, scenario-analysis across the 1.5°C and 4°C range allows businesses to assess both
the high transition and high physical risk potentials (1:5°C and 4°C scenarios respectively).

Potential exposure to transition risks and opportunities are reviewed in qualitative terms across a 1.5°C transition,
scenario. Potential physical risk exposure is reviewed;in qualitative terms across a 4°C high, physical risk:
scenario, with the undsrlylng hazard dataset’ assessed by a third party. The risk rating assigned to -each
shortlisted risk or apportunity is based on the potential qualitative magnitude of the risk or opportunity.

Scenario assumptions, limitations and frequency

Scenario analysis risk and opportunity ratings were determined at regional levels and aggregated proportionally.

It is expected that assessments in future periods are updated in light of developments in either climate science
or business strategy. The risks and opportunities disclosed were prioritised for further analysis following:

workshops with stakeholders from across'the Group and are not exhaustive. Based on the outcome of these
analyis, additional disclosures or different risks and opportunities may be chosen in the future reporting cycles.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Climate-related Financial Disclosures {(continued)

Climate-related Risks -Transition

. . Strategic response and
Oefinition Potential Impact mitisation
Type The price of raw This could present a "high” risk as | The company and its operating
Market materials may increase | raw materials constitute a large subsidiaries are taking
Risk due to the impact of proportion of total costs, divessifying measures their
Increased rising GHG emissiqns specifically for concrete. An uplift | products and investing in R&D
cost of raw pricing and the in demand to support low carbon | to develop innovative new low
materié!s viidespread shift transition potentially carbon Euili_igng materials. The
Time towards cleaner exacerbating price fluctuations. Company and its operating
Rorikzon techhologiés affecting Further, increasing raw matenal subsidiaries are actively taking
2050 demand across sectars, | pricing across the supply chain measures to promote circular
Scenario including HQPE's supply | could potentially be passed on economy in the value chain
1.5°C - chain: from suppliers in the form of through dosing the loop in the
increased cost of rav; materiat material cycle of sand,
g extraction and transportation. aggregates, and concrete. This
= This could also lead to an could reduce reliance on raw
% impairment of the Company’s materials produced via carbon
- Investments. intensive processes and reduce
embodied carbon.
Type Customers may shift This could present a “high” risk to | The development of, and
Reputation preferences away from { the Company and its operating investment into low carbon
Risk traditional concrete subsidiaries, as this may products by the Company and
Shift in products containing potentially reduce demand for its operating subsidiaries and
consumer cement in response to carbon-intensive building thelr commitment to offer
preferences | the end client’s materlals, such as concrete which | circular atternatives for 50% of
Time increased focus on currently constitute a significant concrete products by 2030 is
Horizon environmental impacts. | proportion of revenue. This could | ongoing.
2050 lead to an impairment of the
Scenario Company’s investments.
1,5°C
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Climate-related Financial Discliosures (continued)

Climate-related Risks -Physical

[

Definition

Potential Impact

Strategic response and
mitigation

Type

Acute

Risk

Exposure to physical
hazards

Time Horizon

2050

Scenario

4*C (RCP 8.5)

Physical

Increased severity

of extreme weather
events such as
cyclones and

- floods.

This could present a-“high”
risk to the Company and its
operating subsidiaries, as
hazard data suggests that one
*UK site has potentially
significant exposure to river
‘flooding. This could lead to
disruption of business
activities or cause direct site
tdamage. This could also lead
ito an impairment of
Investments.

| The Company and its
operaﬁng subsldlaries have
detai!ed site-level assessments

! for potentially material sites to
review adaptatlon and
mitlgatlon measures Iocallv

Type

Chronic

Risk

Exposure to physical
hazards

Time Horizon

2050

Scenario

4°C (RCP 8.5)

Changing weather

; patterns and rising,

mean temperature
and sea levels.

This could present a
"medium” risk based on the
Yhazard data provided in a 4°C
" scenario. This could also lead
to an impairment of

Investments.

The Company and its
operating subsidiaries have
detaﬁed site-level assessments
for pote ntiallv mater}a’ sites to
review adaptation and’
mitigation measures locallyy

Climate-related opportunities

Potential Impact

‘Strategic response and
mitigation

lower emissions
technology and

products
S | Time Horizon
£ | 2050
‘ g Scenario
= |'1.5°C

Definition
Type Increased use of
Technotogy lower emission
Risk technology and
Opportunity for products may result

in new revenue
streams (such as
low emission
concrete).

This could present a "high”
opportunity, resulting in new
revenue streams for the
Company and its operating
subsidiaries, given the wide
range of innovative new
products that can be
manufactured with alternative
low carbon fuels and
electrification. There is

. potential opportunity to

expand market share if the

- Company and its operating

subsidiaries adopt these new
technologies at a faster rate
than peers.

The Company and its
subsidiaries have recognised
the opportunity through our
2030 commitments to generate
50% of revenue from low
carbon and circular products,,,
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Climate-related Financial Disclosures (continued)

Metrics & Targets

The progress of the Company and its operating subsidiaries in meeting the 2030 commitments is monitored
together with measurable KPls. Operational sites have internal IMS (integrated Management Systems),
Additionally, all Heidelberg Materials UK sites hold or are working toward ISO 9001 (Customer needs), ISO
14001 (Environmental), ISO 5001(Energy), BES 6001 (Responsible sourcing) and PAS 2080 (Carbon

emissions).

2030 commitments

Contribution as at 31 December 2024

Reduce the carbon impact of products,
with a science-based 1.5% pathway
target of 15% reduction from 8 2016
baseline.

The Company is improving.its network of rait-connected
depots to reduce vehicle movements and associated CO;
emissions.

The Company is continuing to make progress,in changing
burners from gas oil to lower emission fuefs, as the burner is
the single largest OO; emissions source in the asphailt
production process.

The Criggion asphalt plant in the UK trialled hydrogen as a
fuel to deliver net zero asphalt production, .

CarbonlLock trials in the UK, using bio-binders and warm mix
asphalt, demonstrated a 26% reduction in asphalt-related
emissions.

in the UK, the embodied carbon concrete mixes have
reduced between 8% and 24% from 2018 Environmental
Product Declarations (EPDs).

The Company is engaging in early trials of anti-aging and
biogenic bitumen to extend the lifecycle of asphaht, which will
cut carbon emissions, as replacements are required less
frequently.

Generate 50% of our revenue from
sustainable products

The acquisition of Mick George Limited, specialising in
recycling and waste management services, and the
acquisition of Bristol & Avon Group Limited, a supplier of
recycled aggregstes, increases revenue from sustainable
products.

Heidelberg Materials UK opened its first recycling hub at
Appleford, to recycle construction waste for reuse and divert
away from landfill. Investment is continuing, in order to
develop a national network of recycling hubs.

725,000 tonnes of recycled aggregates were processed in
2024, up from 575,600 tonnes in 2023.

In the UK, over 75% of concrete supplied by the Company
exceeded the sustainable revenue criteria and has increased
by 25% from 2023.

The percentage of recycled asphah planings {RAPs) used in
products for asphalt mixes was 18% in 2024,

Offer 50% circular atternatives for
concrete products:,

In 2024, the evoBuild product line fof-low carbon and circular
products was launched in the UK to significantly reduce the
€O, impact of concrete supplied.

High specification watertight concrete containing 70%
Regen GGBS, minimising production of heat and reducing
the risk of thermal cracking, whilst also reducing CO;»
emissions is bemg sold to customers.

Net Zero by 2050

The Company plans to be NetZero by 2050.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE.YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

‘Market Demand Risk

The demand for many products produced by the Company is closely linked with economic conditions. As a
result, depressed economic conditions in the United Kingdom have an adverse effect on demand for and pricing
of the Company’s products which could result in reduced sales and profits.

Most of the markets in which the Company operates are extremely competitive. Local factors such as the
number of competitors and. production capacity, the proximity of natural resources, economic conditions and
product demand exert further competitive pressure. The pricing policies of the Company's competitors in. the
markets in which it operates can have an adverse effect on the demand for. and pricing of the Company's.
products. Consequently the Company’s profitability may be affected.

Seasonality: Risk

Extended pericds of inclement weather, especially periods of heavy or sustained rainfall, during peak
construction periods can resuit in a material reduction in demand for the Company’s products. It may also impact
the Company'’s ability to produce products and consequentiy result in reduced revenues and profits.

Regulatory Risk

Government policy relating to the development of transport infrastructure and housing have a slgnlf icant effect
on demand for the Company's products and, as a result, the Company’s profitability. Decreases in government
fundmg for transport infrastructure and housing projects could reduce the funds available for spending on the
Company’s products, therefore potentially reducing sales and profits.

Changes in government policy or legislation relating to planning, the environment, health and safety and industry
related taxes could significantly affect the Company’s regulatory compliance and other operating costs.
Numerous. governmental approvals are required for the Company’s operations. In the past the Company has
been required to make significant capital expenditure to comply with planning, water, air and solid and hazardous
waste regulations. The Company may be required to make similar expenditure in the future to ensure business
contmulty The imposition of 'industry related taxes such as the aggregates levy and the climate change levy
increase the costs of the Company and encourage imports of competing products and product substitution.

Energy Risk

The Company is a significant purchaser of energy and fuel for the processing and transport of its products. The
Company also purchases significant amounts of materials including bitumen for use in asphalt production and
cement for use in:premix concrete production. The cost of these materials and the cost of energy and fuel
fluctuates, sometimes by significant amounts. Increases in the costs. of these materials; or their lack of
availablility can significantly impact the Company's costs and disrupt its operations. The proﬁtabihty of the
Company could be adversely affected if the Company.was not able to recoup such costs in the prices of its
products. The Company.attempts to limit its exposure to these risks by entering into’hedges where appropriate.

Systems Compliance Risk

The implementation of software to improve the efficiency and’effectiveness of various business processes is an
important contributer to the Company’s ongoing operations. [Failure to design, select appropriate suppliers and
implement such systems effectively could resultiin unplanned costs or reduced levels of customer satisfaction.
This could adversely affect the Company’s resuits and profitability.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Cyber Security Risk

Due to the current geopolitical situation and the increasing prevalence of cyberattacks as a business model, the
threat of attack, especially from external sources, is significantly heightened. This could expose the Company lu
significant downtime, which could adversely affect the Company’'s performance.

To counteract this threat level, Heidelberg Materials UK has appointed an Information Security Officer who is
responsible for leading the Information Security Programme in the UK, intended to improve the maturity of
Heldelbery Materials UK's people, processes, and technology measured against the NIST (National Institute of
Standards and Technology) Cyber Security Framework. This includes cyber-education for all employees,
introducing information security compliance check-points into the IT Demand/Delivery Process and supporting
the creation and testing of business continuity plans at regular intervals.

Continuous improvements to the Company’s IT networks evidence developments in cyber resilience, to ensurc
security and stability are maintained at a high level.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the potential exposure of the Company to loge in the event of non-payment by a counter party. The
Company controls this credit risk through credit approval limits and the utilisation of an asset backed
securitisation programme.

Transport Risk

Transport logistics play an important part in thc Company’s cupply chain whether by road, rail or river. Any
material disruption to, or lack of availability, of such transport support could significantly impact operating costs.

Pensions Risk

The Company is a principal employei of (e Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (defined benefit section) (the
“Scheme”), which is closed to future accruals. The amounts reported in the accounts relating to the Scheme are
based on advice from independent actuaries.

Resdults under IAS 19 can change dramatically depending on market conditions, and will lead to volatility in the
net pension asset on the Company's Balance Sheet and in Other Comprehensive Income. The actuarial
assumptions have been set so that lhey represent a best estimate of future experience from the Scheme. (n
practice, the true costs for the Scheme could be different to those shown.

The Scheme exposes the Company to a number of risks, the most significant of which are:

+ Asset volatility - the Scheme holds a significant proportion of growth assets, which, though expected to
outperform corporate bonds in the long-term, create volatility and risk in the short-term. The allocation to growth
assets is monitored to ensure it remains appropriate given the Scheme's long term objectives.

» Changes in bond yields - A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the Scheme's
liabilities for accounling purposes, allhough this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the
Scheme's bond holdings.

* Inflation risk - A significant proportion of the Scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation. Meanwhile, the
majority of the assets are cither unaffected by or only looesely correlatod with inflation, meaning that an increase
in inflation will also increase the liabilities.

« Life expectancy - The majority of the Scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the membar, sn
increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the liabilities.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Financial Key Performance Indicators

Key performance indicators (KPIs) are managed at a divisional level. As a result, the Directors have taken the
decision not to disclose performance against KPIs in individual subsidiary financial statements. Management
assess divisional performance against a number of financial KPIs including turnover, profitability, sales volumes,
average selling prices and market share alongside other non financial KPls such:as health and safety and
customer satisfaction. Group performance against KPls is disclosed in the financial statements of Heidelberg
Materials AG.

This report was approved by the board on 25 September 2025 and signed on its behalf.
L ""éé A = IZyxc

W F Rogers
Secretary
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The Directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.
Results and dividends

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £79,271,000 (2023 - £105,817,000).

A net actuarial loss after tax of £32,890,000 (2023 - £21,603,000) was recognised during the year.

No dividend was paid during the year (2023 - £nil). The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year (2023 - £nil).

Research and development activities

The Company carries out research and development on its own behalf to advance the marketability of its
products. Research costs are written off in the year in which they are incurred. Development costs are
capitalised if they meet the criteria of IAS 38.

Post balance sheet events

On 6 May 2025, the Company received £70,000,000 from Mick George Limited, on the repayment of a loan note,
together with interest of £4,902,149, and used the proceeds to subscribe for a new loan in the amount of
£75,000,000 that is repayable on 6 May 2026.

Future developments

The Directors believe that although there is still a lot of uncertainty in the market due to the macro economic
climate impacting demand in the construction industry in the UK, particuarly in concrete sales, the Company
continues to see demand for the Company's products. The Directars will continue to focus on maintaining
margins during a continued period of cost pressures.

Going concern

The Directors have performed an assessment on the ability of the Company to operate on a going concern
basis. This includes an assessmeit of the Company’s financial position and forecast performance, Heidelberg
Materials UK's divisional cash fluw forecasts up to December 2026 and other relevant enquiries, including: the
on-goiny impacl of geupdlitical instability iin Ukraine and the Middle East and other political uncertainties; energy
and raw material market volatility; persistent inflationary pressures; proposed tariffs; relatively high interest rates
and the overarching impact these factors have on construction and consumer markets, as well as consideration
of identifiable risksc made by the ultimate parent undertaking, Heidelberg Materials AG, on their global business
activities. The ultimate parent undertaking continues to operate on a going concern basis.

The Directors coulinue lu see ongoing demand for the Company's prodiicts and have a reasonable expectation
that the Cormpany will be able to continue in operational existence for the foreseaable future having considerad
the risks and uncertainties that are relevant to both the Company and its ultimate parent undertaking and
therefore they continue to adopt the going concem basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Directors
The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements were:

B Charleton

E A Gretton

S L Willis

J S Whitelaw

M D Barlow

G J Day

J P Morrish

A Quilez Somolinos
G A Napier
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)-
FOR.THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Statement of corporate govornance arrangements

The Company has adopted The Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large‘Private Companies. The
summary below sets out how the Company has applied the six principles.

Purpose and Leadership — The board of Directors recognise that the world is undergoing profound changes
and: that our ‘building materials and solutions shape significant development worldwide and our purpose and
leadership principles lay the foundation for the Company’s future. At the centre of the Company's actions lies the
Company's responsibility for the environment and it aims to be the leader in the industry on the path to carbon-
neutrality. It delivers long-term financial performance through operational excellence, dedication, and openness
for change. The Directors are progressive and have ambition to drive transformation and want to push the
boundaries:to strengthen innovation and deepen partnerships with customers and other stakeholders as the
Company crafts material solutions for the future.

The Directors have defined the Company's strategy as always aligning with its customers in the interests of
mutual success. The Company promotes these principles and works to be the first choice for our customers,
providing consistently geod services and solutions and protecting the local environment. The Directors work to
lead by example to ensure high ethical, social and legal standaids across all of vur business operations, with the
Directors committed to ensuring a fair, respectful and inclusive company that encourages a culture of
meritocracy, opcnness, transparency and diversity.

The Company regularly communicates its purpose, values and strategysto its workforce to embed its key
objectives and achieve the long-term success of the Company. The Company's engagement with employses
section below sets out more information on the steps the board takes to monitor culture within our organisation.

The Directors champion the ability of employees to report matters of potential:misconduct through a regime of
compliance policies*and training, supported'by an online reporting platform that provides employees and third
parties with the opportunity to address compliance related concems independently of reporting lines: The
Directors have also embedded processes to identify and manage the conflicts of interest that may arise in the
course of Company operations.

Board Composition - the Company's board of directors is led by the Chief Executive Officer, supported by the
Financial Director and the Managing Directors of the business lines, as well as by the Legal and Compliance
Director. The Company's ultimate parent company Heidelberg Materials AG has also appointed the relevant area
Vorstand Director to the board who, while not holding the formal title of Chair, may attend relevant board
meetings as the senior, non-executive director.

The Directors believe that this provides an appropriate balance in the context of the Company's position as a
principal subsidiary of an overseas listed corporation. Since the board of the Company's ultimate parent
company has its own non-executive directors as well as a Supervisory Board with its own independent Chair, the
Directors are of the view that it would be neither desirable or efficient for the Company to appoint additional
non-exscutive directors or Chair.

The Directors collectively have extensive levels of experience in the building materials sector and bring a wide
range of commercial, operational, management and professional skills to the board. The Directors are also of the
view that the size of the board is sufficient and appropriate relative to the Company's tumover and businesses
and provides ample capacity to oversee the operations of the Company. Directors continue their own
professional development through their respective memberships of the Institute of Quarrying, accountancy and
other professional bodies.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Statement of corporate governance arrangements (continued)

The Directors recognise that in line with much of the building materials industry, the Company has more to do to
ensure better representation on our board of Directors for the purposes of ensuring diversity in line with the
Equalities Act 2010. The Directors have established a fairness, awareness, inclusion and respect committee
chaired by a managing director, which has published a targot for 26 per cent of thc Company's senior
management to be female by 2030.

Diractors' Responsibilities — regular management of everyday operations and commcrcial activity is delegated
both to the business line managing directors, who mest on a monthly basis, and to the executive committee
which meets once every three months. The Heidelberg Matorials UK executive committee also includes the
Head of human resources, sustainability and IT directors, extending the expertise, capacity and diversity of the
Company’s senior management.

The business line managing directors focus on health and safety incidents, sustainability, major projects, capital
expenditure and business line strategy, whereas the executive committee concentrate on wider policy. These
forums facilitate efficient, effective decision making on the basis of informed decisions and debate, both at
business line and company-wide levels. Succession planning for every Director and member of the executive
team is also in place and reviewed three times a year.

The Company does not have a separate remuneration committee as such, although the remuneration of
managing directors includes a long-term incentive element in collaboration with the romuneration strategies
devised by the Company's ultimate parent company and its own supervisory board.

The Company has a suite of corporate governance policies, which includes: a management responsibilities
policy applicable to all directors and requiring financial control, legal and operational compliance, safety and
quality across our operations; a dignity and respect policy that safeguards against the riglc of bullying and
harassment; a fairness, inclusion and respect policy that sets out the Directors' commitment to ensuring a fair,
respectful and inclusive Caompany that encourages a cutture of meritocracy, transparency and diversity; and our
group's code of business conduct, which sets out requirements in relation to legal compliance, conflicts of
interest, the confidentiality of information, fair employment practices and protection of the environment. The
Directors keep these policies under periodic review.

Opportunity and Risk — the Company’s executive team is incentivised to consider the long-term generation and
preservation of value since the Company's mineral assets may often require a high leve! of capital investment
and long-term planning in order to ensure the continuity of reserves and operations. The Directors carry out
annual and quarterly reviews of reserves and resources relative to operational assets and constraints in order to
identify short-life sites and replenishment needs; long-term capital expenditure, property and minoral planning
considerations may be required, to provide reserves that can eventually generate value in the long term.

The Company also has a general risk committee that meets on a quarterly basis and supervises Heidelberg
Materials UK's risk management processes and associated reporting. Risks across the business are owned in
the first instance by operations and employees, subject to review by the executive committee and the general
risk committee.

The Directors have also implemented an intemal control framework comprising measures ranging from
accounting controls and delegated levels of financial authority to detailed capital expenditure, financial reporting
and contract requirements, underpinned by periodic intemal audit, with regular reports to the Directors and the
Company's ultimate parent company.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Statement of corporate governance arrangements (continued)

Executive Remuneration — executive remuneration follows the same structure as the Company’s other
management grades, incorporating basic pay, with variable pay based upon annual objectives for the Company
and the individual, as well as providing a number of benefits such as car provision, health cover and participation
in the Company's defined contribution pension scheme; the Company's levels of remuneration are designed to
secure and retain a high calibre of management and a skilled workforce, with executive remuneration being
benchmarked against other salary bands within the Company, as well as against any available sector data; the
Company has adopted the Hay job evaluation methodologies to objectively grade every staff function.

While the Company does not have a separate remuneration committee, the Company’'s remuneration levels are
reviewed and subject to annual approval by the Company’s ultimate parent company, based upon the policies of
the ultimate parent company’s own supervisory board; long term incentives are offered to the senior executive
directors to complement both long service and the sustainable success of the Company. Annual objectives
include performance objectives to ensure successful, efficient, sustainable operations that will encourage the
generation of value in the mid and long term, while promoting safe operations for our workforce, drivers and
contractors; performance objectives are also set out on the basis of the Company’s vision and strategy.

The Company has acknowledged the existence of a gender pay gap based upon the number of women in senior
management and certain operational roles. The Directors are taking steps to address the gap in relation to
matters such as leadership, recruitment and monitoring.

Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement - the Company’s s172 Statement includes a summary of how the
Company engaged with key stakeholders during 2024. The Employee Engagement Report also sets out the
many steps the Company takes to engage with its workforce. The Directors believe it is essential for. the
Company to engage proactively and meaningfully with all key stakeholders, its customers, local communities,
employees, contractors and supptliers.

As set out in the Employee Engagement Report, the Company has an established employee forum that includes
representatives from the various business lines. The forum meets fortnightly with the Human Resources team
and regularly engages with the Heidelberg Materials UK chief executive officer and managing-directors with
regard: to business performance and prospects, strategic objectives, health and safety and the sustainability of
operations. The chief executive officer also holds a series of national communication roadshows every year in
the form of informal town hall talks where similar matters are presented to and discussed with the workforce.

In 2024 an employee survey was held which included a question on culture. Employee engagement was 78 per
cent and action plans are being created to achieve further improvement. With respect to culture 75 per cent of
employees noted positive behaviours. A Heidelberg Materials UK Team magazine which set out updates on
business performance, strategy and the steps we take to support local communities is issued several limes a
year. Driver forums and similar dialogues with trade unions are also held.

The Company has also implemented many steps to engage with employees and prioritise health and safety.
These include: the regular attendance on site by the executive team to ensure visible felt leadership through
safety visits and conversations; an annual business line led safety improvement plan, which focusses on risk
management and the reduction of Potential Fatal Risks (PFls) in the business; and the continuing development
of measures focussing on the wellbeing of all staff and contractors, with a specific emphasis on mental health
and the continuation of training mental health first aiders in the business.

A strong regime of policies, procedures and training supports the Company’s purpose and values, embedding
safe working practices and requiring compliance with applicable laws on matters such as bribery and corruption,
modern slavery, data protection and competition law, supported by an online reporting platform that allows
concerns to be reported and investigated outside of reporting lines. Regular elLearning for staff on cyber security
also takes place.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Statement of corporate governance arrangements (continued)

Heidelberg Materials UK engages with its customers on many different levels. Our commercial teams plan ahead
to ensure field visits to customer sites and digital communications are also made, together with regular proactive
outbound calls from our customer service centre. This allows for meaningful dialogue and feedback so that our
services and products can be delivered as customers need.

We have invested in customer focussed programs including Customer Excellence, Sales is a Science, Leading
by Example, The Power of Belonging and Professional Skills. These initiatives are designed to ensure that we
understand the needs of our customers and provide services and solutions that deliver value. By aligning our
p!oduct and service offerings with customer expeactations, we aim to enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty.

We also reach out to customers by offering shared Continuous Professional Development (CPD) seminars,
supporting designers, architects and engineers within customer operations on innovative products and specifying
sustainable concrete. We also operate a merchant academy that supports staff within our merchant customers
with technical support and training.

Qur larger sites and quarries also facilitate engagement and hold community liaison meetings with local
residents. The Company values long-term relationships to ensure that we retain local support of our operations.
We have established a dedicated website www.communities.heidelbergmaterials.co.uk that facilitates strong
levels of engagement with communities at our larger sites.

These dedicated community pages provide immediate contact information for site management and also provide
information on matters such as visits from schools and resident groups, the local ecology and our conservation
programs, our support for projects in the community, as well as career opportunities.

Our regular trade press releases and presence on social media platforms such as Facebook, Linkedin, Twitter,
Instagram and TikTok also allow for engagement with our customers, suppliers, candidates and other
stakeholders. We also operate an up-to-date, optimised website that is designed to allow quick and simple
access by customers and other stakeholders using mobile devices.

With regard to our suppliers, the Company allows for both competitive tendering and the establishment of
longer-term strategic relationships and framework agreements. Suppliers are required to accept our Supplier
Code of Conduct, which helps foster sustainable partnerships based on mutual trust, requiring vendor
compliance with intemational social accountability standard SAB000, environment standard 1SO 14001 and the
principles of the International Labour Organisation. Together with our Supplier Code, these set out vendor
requirements on matters such as working conditions, environmental compliance, health and safety, business
ethics, respect for human rights, freedom from discrimination, as well as the requirement that our own vendors
require upstream adherence in their own supply chains.

Collectively, the Directors believe that the Company's stakeholder engagement facilitates dialogue and two-way
communication that foster the effective sustainable relationships with our key stakeholders.

Engagement with stakeholders

The Directors’ statement on compliance with their duty to promote the success of the Company included within
the Strategic Report includes a summary of how the Company engaged with its key stakeholders during 2024,
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Engagement with employees

The Company takes a number of measures to ensure proactive and meaningful engagement with its workforce -
this applies to all employees and all companies within Heidelberg Materials UK.

Heidelberg Materials UK values engagement with its workforce, as a key stakeholder. The engagement takes
place on. many different levels, using a variety of formal and informal measures; which facilitates two-way
dialogue to ensure employees have a direct voice to the executive team.

An employee forum has been established, with 13 active employee representatives representing the various
business lines and staff functions. The forum meets fortnightly and is chaired by the Head of Human Resources
or Senior HR Business Partner.

Four members of the forum also.sit on the ultimate parent company's European Works Council, which the
Directors beliove represents a positive opportunity for the UK workforce to make its voice heard directly at the
level of the uitimate parent company.

The employee. forum acts as a key'information and discussion channel between employees.and executive
management. At the September 2024 meeting, Heidelberg Materials UK's chief executive officer (CEO), tuyether
with business line managing directors, provided detailed updates on business line specific activities, business
performance and markets, health and safety progress, digital and our new people plan.

Employee representatives raised numerous points of discussion during.the meeting, with employees invited to
anonymously. submnt questions in advance. These processes lead to a combination of management
commitments, réviews and explanations on a wide range of safety, environmental, operational and commercial
matters. Minutes are taken which are published on the Heidelberg Materials UK intranet, together with the
questions and, answers. The Directors-believe that the employee forum provides a positive and transparent
means of engaging with the workforce as a key stakeholder, in the interests of the long-term sustainability of the
Company and its operations.

In addition to the employee forum, the CEO delivers a national leadership communication roadshow each year.
These take the form of informal town hall'talks, with-the CEO providing detailed updates to staff regarding
business performance, strategy and the priorities for the year ahead, as well as giving the workforce the
opportunity to put questions directly to the senior management in attendance. In addition, core business areas
have a stall with representatives from across the business discussing their priorities for 2024 and beyond, and
engaging on any challenges, issues or other matters employees would like to get feedback on.

Other measures to facilitate effective engagement with employees include the regular business update via teams
by the CEO and executive management, as well as the quarterly publication of Heidelberg Materials UK's Team
magazine, which is sent to every employee's home address, and includes regular updates through the year on
business performance and strategy. Heidelberg Materials UK's Team magazine also communicates to
employees the many positive measures Heidelberg Materials UK takes to support our local communities as key
stakeholdore in the contéxt of the long: term sustainability of our operations.

All Heidelberg Materials employees have been assigned an email address and have the ability to access our
people system, Workday, where they can view their personal information and payslip.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Engagement with employees {(continued)

Regular updates are provided on Viva Cngage and continue to increase the presence on Social Mcdia which has
meant reaching a wider and more diverse audience with our communications and business activities,
contributing to the enhancement of our employer brand. The Directors value the consultations undertaken with
trade unions, setting out detailed business performance updates when meeting with them.

Heidelberg Materials UK places great importance on visible and engaged leadership. Management frequently
visits sites to discuss health and safety, as woll as othor broader topics, with employoog. Safety convereations in
parlicular are closely monitored to demonstrate the commitment to engaged leadership and the significance of
safely.

The Heard nf HR works with the HR Business Partnering Team and attends management meetings to provide
insight on feedback regularly receivad from employees at various forums which often influences the direction of
the business's People Strategy. Through the work and engagement carried out within the business the HR team
are ensuring the Company’s values and culture are embedded within the workforce.

In 2024, a new people strategy was daveloped by collaborating with representatives from various parts of the
business to shape out future together. This strategy was formed through conducting workshops with business
representatives. We also collaborated with colleagues from Heidelberg Materials European countries to share
best practices. These workshops provided a platform for exchanging ideas, addressing challenges, and fostering
a collaborative environment that supports our strategic goals.

Employes surveys are carried out periodically, and in September 2024, a comprehensive survey was conducted
to monitor the culture and values within our workforce. The results showed a significant improvement in the
engagement scare, which increased from 73% to 78%. This positive change reflects our ongoing efforts to
create a supportive and engaging work environment,

To build vn this success, we are currently developing action plans aimed at providing continuous improvement.
These plans will address the fcedback received from the survey and focus on key areas such ac employee well-
being, professional development, communication and workplace cuiture. Our goal is to ensure that our
employees fee! valued and heard, and that we continue to foster a positive and inclusive workplace.

in addition to the engagement survey, we conducted a wellbeing survey in January 2024 to assess the curnent
state of employees' mental health, This survey helped us evaluate the effectiveness of our wellbeing strategies
and identify areas for improvement. As a result, we have trained over two hundred mental health first aiders to
suppoit our empluyees. Additivnally, we created a wellbeing dashboard that provides management and support
functions with insightful data to take informed actions.

A further component of engagement with employees is the annual Heidelberg Materials UK return to work
carried out on the first working day of the New Year, with the usual Health and Safety stand down heid.

Heidelberg Materials UK is committed to being a fair, inclusive, and respectful business, whilst raising awareness
of key challenges both internally and across the industry. To implement this commitment, we have a Fairness,
Awareness, Inclusion and Respect (FAIR) committee. Led by a member of the executive board and made up
hur & range of diveise backgrounds the comimittee shape our strategy and promote the business as a place
where anyone, regardless of gender, background, age, ethnicity, disability or sexual orientation feels welcome
and able to have a successful career,
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)'
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Engagement with employees (continued)

In addition to the:FAIR committee, there.are three employee ‘networks: Network of ' Women (NOW), LGBT+
network and the Atmed Forces' Network. Investing in FAIR continues to be a paramount priority.for us, and it
plays a pivotal role in our staff retention strategy. it fosters a positive work.environment that entices.and
motivates them to remain part of our team.

Participation in the Disability: Confident scheme, provides an inclusive and'accessible work environment that
values diversity and'equal opportunities. A silver accreditation with the*Armed Forces Covenant recognises the
support we put in place for employee ammed forces personnel, veterans, and their. families.

The Sabbatical Policy was extended to early talent trainees in 2024 and continues to allow staff flexibility in their
working location, if the job allows; to give a better work-life balance:

The family policies are continuously reviewed to better support employees. In January the Patemity Leave was
extended to three weeks and Maternity Pay was increased. to support new parents. A progressive Neonatal
Leave policy; a Fertility policy, and a Menopause policy also exist to support employees in their time of need.
Employees are provided with an occupational health program that includes annual and biennial medicals
depending on job profile. An Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) provides employeeS«wnh‘lmmedlate
access to confidential 24-hour' telephone counselling and. support. The helphne is available' to support all
Heidelberg Materials UK employees and provides support:through work and life issues and problems arising,
ranging from.legal to medical, stress and general heaith, fitness and wellbeing advice. The EAP is completely
confidential, with high level statistical information relating to usage level being passed'to management for
periodic review.

Heidelberg Materials UK’s values are also underpinned by a broad range of policies ranging from management
responsibilities and matters of legal compliance, to dignity at work and ensuring faimess, inclusion and respect in
the workplace always. Where employees do not feel able to express concems within the structure of reporting
lines, an online reporting platform has been established to provide employees with an opportunity to address any
compliance related concerns and matters of potential policy transgression, within a safe and protected process;
issues raised are reviewed and investigated, with reporting back to the Heidelberg Materials UK executive team.

The various measures described in this report are reviewed annually by the Heidelberg Materials UK executive
team and the Company believes that collectively they allow for a strong level of communication and engagement
with employees.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED
DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

The SECR disclosure presents our carbon footprint within the United Kingdom across Scope 1, 2 and to some
extent scope 3 emissions, and the total energy use of electricity, gas, and transport fuel.

Year to 31st Dec 2024 Year to 31st Dec 2023
Energy consumption used to calculate 205,318,527 196,149,854
emissions (kWh)
Emissions from combustion of gas tCOze 18,234 13,895
(Scope 1)
Emissions from combustion- of fuel for 4,539 8,240
transport purposes tCOze (Scope 1)
Emisslons from business travel in rental cars 0 0
or employee-owned vehicles where company
is responsible for purchasing the fuel tCOze

_(Scope 3) _

Emissions from purchased electricity tCOze 17,781 17,539
(Scope 2, location-based)
Total gross tCO2e based on above (location: 40,554 39,674
based) *
Intensity ratio (tCOze/Turnover in £000) 0.0374 0.0360
(location-based)
Emissions from purchased electricity tCOze 92 85
(Scope 2, market-based)
Total gross tCOze based on above {markel- 22,865 22,218
based) _
Intensity ratio (1COze/Turnover in £000) 0.0211 0.0202
{market-based)

*The presented emissions in this section differ from the total emissions of the company.
Energy Efficiency Actions Summary

The Company forms part of the Heidelberg Materials UK operating division of Heidelberg Materials AG.
Responsibility for the environment remains a core operating principle, with sustainability an integral part of our
strategy. The Company met the 2024 ESOS compliance requirements, maintaining energy and carbon
management systems to ISO 50001 standards. Science-based targets have been set, where by the Company
intends to be carbon neutral across its entire product portfolio and achieve Net Zero emissions by 2050.

The Company focused on improving energy efficiency through equipment upgrades. This includes the
replacement of the switchgear and hopper at the Purfleet site. The new compressor is reducing energy
consumption and enhancing operational performance. Plant optimisations continue with a mix of new equipment,
rebuilds, driver training and ensuring machines are cormectly sized for suitable task loading.

The Company has implemented multiple projects aimed at improving energy efficiency and sustainability. This
included the installation of bypass systems, and improved waste management practices. At the Pateley Bridge
site, lower-energy consumption burners have been installed, reducing overall fuel use. Additionally, the Company
has increased the use of biodiesel in contracting vehicles, further decreasing reliance on conventional fuels. On
site plant optimisations continue with a mix of new equipment, rebuilds, driver training and ensuring machines
are correctly sized for suitable task loading.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) .
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (continued)

Methodology Note
Reporting Period January 2024 — December 2024
Boundary (consolidation Operational approach
approach)
Alignment with financial! SECR disclesure has been prepared in line with Hanson Quarny Products Europe
reporting Limited's annual accounts made up to 313t December 2024
Reporsting method GHG Emigsions reporting are'in.line! with the Greenhouse Gas'(GHG) Protocol

Comorate Accounting and Regonll_\g Standard:

Emissions factor source

DEFRA, 2024 for all emissions factors

hitps:ivanv.qov. uovemment/ggb{ggngnslgreenhm e-gas. ﬁmﬂfﬁg-«:ggmﬁbn—
factors-2024

Conversion factor
source

Gasoline;
Federal Register EPA; 40 CFR Part 98 e- CFR June:13, 2017
'EPA GHG Emission Factors Hub ’
Diesel: .
‘U.S. Energy Information Administration - British Thermal Unit Convession factors
2020
LPG:
Climate Leaders Greenhouse Gas Inventory Protocol Core Module Guidance Direct
Emissions from Stationary Combustion Sources 2008

Calcuiation method

Activity Data x Emission Factor = GHG emissions (tCO.¢)
Activity Data x Conversion Factor = kWh consumption:

Other relevant)
information on
calculation

Where appllcable consumption was converted to kWh using conversion factors linked
above, while emissions were calculated with the DEFRA emission factors.,

The percentage of the Hanson Quarry Products Europe Limited emp!oyee numbers .

of the total employee numbsers (64.8%) is appued to the total transport diesel and
petrol amount to estimate the company's usage. Diesel usage by forkiift Gucks Is not
yet tracked saparately. An average 3.95 litre per hour consumiption is assumed
Source: hitps:/forkiiftbriefing com/save-moneyithe-forkiif-fuelrobbery/

Based on experience an average of 2 hours per run ime a day for all working days
in the UK is estimated for 2 machines that work on sites|,

Less'than 1% of the total ielectric. power wereibased on wtlmated figures. The
following estimation method was used: Value from the same month of the prior year.

Dual reporting approach

Dual reporting allows us to compare our purchasging decision.(market-based
approach — green electricity) 10 the overall GHG-intensity of the grid (location-based
approach — grid electricity)

Amount of carbon free

electricity (kWh)
imported from the grid

85,207,772 kWh

Information on carbon
free electricity

The electricity supplied to Hanson Quamy Products Europe Limited by EDF for
01.01.2024 to-31.12.2024 has been generated from 100% carbon free (nuclear)
sources, except-for landiord consumption. Using the- GHG" Proiocol Corporate
Standards market-based approach the-above’ enables us to report *0° emissions
under Scope 2.

Reason for the intensity
measurement choice

For consistency, due to the cemem market data order, turnover has been chosen for

oir intensity-metric as the company is precluded by faw from pubhalung production-

data. Turnover reflects business perfsrmance and fo(lowmg the recommendations of
the SECR reporting guidance on financial metrics.

Exclusions

The Scope 3 transport fuels and the associated emissions were calculated in the first’
reporting year (2020) and were found to be de minimis> ~As the Information’is not!
practical to obtain routmely and is-immaterial, we have excluded this category from
our annual reporting.

The usage of the truck fieet is non reportable as the company hires a.franchise:

company.

Rounding

Due to rounding there might be a minor difference compared to the actual GHG
emissions (no more than 1%).
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Directors’ indemnity

Heidelberg Materials AG has indemnified, by means of directors' and officers’ liability insurance, the Directors of
the Company against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third parties, subject to the conditions set out
in section 234 of the Companies Act. Such qualifying third party indemnity provision was in force during the year
and is in force as at the date of approving the Directors' Report.

The articles of association also provide for the Directors to be indemnified by the Company subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who are Directors at the time when this Directors’ Report is approved has confirmed that:

o so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware, and

= the Director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a Director,in order to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that information.

o

Independent Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP having indicated their willingness to act will continue in office, as auditors of the
Company, in accordance with section 487 of the Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 25 September 2025 and signed on its behalf.

fon c.é" = A

W F Rogers
Secretary
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors' Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted:
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework”, and applicable law).’ ‘

Under company law, Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company,and of the profit or los5 of the Company for that period.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

. state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS101 have been followed;
subject to any.material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

. prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking.reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible, for keeping adequate accounting records’ that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions'and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of-
the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

The Responsibllity Statement was approved by the board on 25 September 2025 and signed on its behalf.

Cctsy F s

Py

W F Rogers’
Secretary-
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Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Hanson Quarry Products
Europe Limited :

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Hanson Quarry Products Europe Limited’s financial statements:

o give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 and of its
profit for the year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”,
and applicable faw); and

o have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements
{the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2024; the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes
to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable

to other entities of public interest, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's
Ethical Standard were not provided.

Other than those disclosed in note 8, we have provided no non-audit services to the company in the
period under audit,
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Conclusions relating to going concern
Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting included:

Testing the mathematical accuracy of the cash flow forecasts and the models;

e Performing a comparison of budget versus prior year actuals to assess management's ability to
forecast accurately; '

¢ Understanding the key assumptions management have applied in developing their forecasts and
where appropriaté; we ‘engaged experts to assess management assumptions or validated the
assumptions to third party information;

e Assessing the disclosure given in the financial statements in respect of going concern and whether.it
gives a fair and balanced view.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability
to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee
as to the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do.
not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form
of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to. be materially
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required
to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements
or. a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we'have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report; we also considered whether the disclosures
required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to
report certain opinions and matters as described below.




Strategic report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the
Strategic report and Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2024 is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course
of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with I1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect
of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related to Health and Safety and environmental legislation, and
we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial
statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial
statements such as UK tax legislation and the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s
incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk
of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate
journal entries and management bias in accounting estimates or judgements to manipulate results. Audit
procedures performed by the engagement team included:

e Reviewing meeting minutes of the board for evidence of breaches of regulations and further
reviewing any relevant correspondence;
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¢ |dentifying and testing journal entries based on our risk assessment and evaluating whether there
was evidence of management bias that represents a risk of material misstatement due to fraud;

o Inquiring of management in respect of any known or suspected instances of non compliance with laws
and regulations and fraud;

e Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting
estimates and obtaining corroborative evidence to support their reasonableness.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become
aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events
and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through
collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’
report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s meinbers as a body
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not,
in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.
Stuart Couch (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Stalutory Auditors

Bristol
26 September 2025

Page 30



HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

I

Turnover

Change in stocks of finished goods and work in progress
Other operating income

Raw materials and consumables

Other operating expenses

Exceptional items

Staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation

Operating profit/(loss)

income from shares in group undertakings
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar expenses -

Profit before tax

Tax on profit

Profit for the financial year

Other comprehensive expense:
items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Actuarial loss on defined benefit schemes
Movements on deferred tax relating to pension surplus

Total comprehensive income for the year

All amount relate to continuing operations.,

The notes on pages 36 to 72 and Appendix i form part of these financial statements.

Note

o

11
12

13

28
24

2024 2023
£000 £000
1,082,903 1,100,884
(14,545) (2,912)
46,724 31,716
(634,573)  (650,303)
(229,610) . (227,281)
(26;551)  (288,871)
(143,583)  (139,724)
(38,829) (36,271)
41,936  (212,762)
40,010 328,626
36,495 36,906
(10,787) (8,175)
107,654 144,595
(28,383) (38,778)
79,271 105,817
e e
(43,853) (28,804)
10,963 7,201
(32,890) (21,603)
84,214

46381
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REGISTERED NUMBER: 00300002

'HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024,
2024 2023
Note! £000 £000!
Fixed assets >
Goodwill 15 5117* 5,117
Other intangible assets 14 389: 217
Tangible assets 16 576,241 552,792
Investments 17 555,530 350,055
1,137,277/ 908,181
Clirrent assets:
Stocks 18 54,431 63,645
Debtors: amounts falling due after more than
one year 19 442,096 485,034
Debtors: amounts falling due withinoneyear 19 841,301 1,102,771
Cash at bank and in hand 20 8,280 13,386
1,346,108 1,664,836
Creditors: amounts falling due within one
year: 21 (377,309) (520,275)'
Net current assets 968,799 1,144,561
L
Total assets less current liabilities 2,106,076 2,052,742
Creditors: amounts falling due after more
than one year 22. (70,919): (70,811)
2,035,157 1,981,931
Provisions for liabilities
Deferred taxation: 24 (178,035) (167,5998)!
Other provisions 25 (29,824) (33,415)
(207,859) (?01,014)
Net assets 1,827,298 1,780,917
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HANSON QUAR!HIY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED
REGISTERED NUMBER: 00300002

BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023
Note £000 £000

Capital and reserves &
Called up share capital 26 51,917 561,917
Revaluation reserve 27 195,297 195,297
Other reserves 27 4,650 4,650
Profit and loss account 27 1,675,434 1,629,053
-Total equity 1,827,298 1,780,917
== 1

v

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on "+
25 September 2025.

=

A Quilez Somolinos
Director

The notes on pages 36 to 72 and Appendix | form part of these financial statements.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Called up Revaluation Other  Profitand
share capitat reserve reserves loss account Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 January 2024 51,817 195,297 4,650 1,529,053 1,780,817
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - - 79,271 79,271
Actuarial losses on pension scheme asset net of deferred taxation - - - (32,890) (32,890)
Other comprehensive expense for the year - - - (32,890) (32,890)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 46,381 46,381
At 31 December 2024 51,917 195,297 4,650 1,575,434 1,827,298

The notes on pages 36 to 72 and Appendix | form part of these financial statements .
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

At 1 January 2023

Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year

Actuarial losses on pension scheme asset net of déferred taxation
Other comprehensive expense for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

At 31 December 2023

The notes on pages 36 to 72 and Appendix | form part of these financial statements .

Called up Revaluation Other Profit and

share capital reserve- reserves loss account Total equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

51,917 195,297 4,650 1,444 839 1,696,703

- - - 105,817 105,817
- - - (21,603) (21,603)
. - - (21,603) (21,603)

- - - 84,214 84,214

o 51917 195297 4,650 1,529,053 1,780,917
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

1.

General information

Hanson Quarry Products Europe Limited (‘the Company”) is a limited company 'fhcorporated and
domiciled in the United Kingdom. The address of its registered office and principal place of business is
disclosed in the Company Information.

Accounting policies

21

2.2

Basis of preparation of financlal statements

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standard 101 (FRS101) 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' and' the
Companies Act 2006.

The Company's financial: statements are presented in Sterling, which is also the:- Company's
functional currency, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have, unless otherwise stated, been consistently applied to all periods
presented.

The Company is itself a subsidiary company and is.exempt from the requirement to prepare group-
accounts by virtue of section 401 of the Companies Act 2006. These financial statements therefore
present information about the Company as an individual undertaking and.riot about its group.

Financial Reporting Standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptions

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:
. the requirements of paragraphs 45(b) and 46-52 of IFRS 2 Share-based payment

) the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures

. the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

D) the requirementiin paragraph 38 of IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' to present
comparative information in respect of:

- paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS 1;,
- paragraph 73(e) of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment;
- paragraph 118(e) of IAS 38 Intangible Assets;

.. the requirements of paragraphs 10(d); 10(f), 16, 38A,.38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 408, 40C; 40D,
111 and 134-136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

. the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

2'

Accounting policies (continued)

2.2

23

Financial reporting standard 101 - reduced disclosure exemptions (continued)

s the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors
the requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures
the requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions
entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is &
party to the transaction is wholly owned by such a member

¢ lhe requirements of paragraphs 130(N(il), 130(N(iii), 134(d)-134(f) and 135(c)-135(e) of IAS 36
impairment of Assets.

This information is included in the consolidated financial statements of Heidelberg Materials AG as at
31 December 2024 and these financial statements may be obtained from Berliner Strasse 6, D 69120
Heidelberg, Germany.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured as the fair value of the
consideration receivod or receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, value added tax and other sales
taxes. The Company recognises revenue when performance obligations have been satisfied and for
the Company this is when the goods or services have transferred to the customer and the customer
has the contro! of these. The following criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

- the Company has transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the buyer;

- the Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

- it is probable that the Company will receive the consideration due under the transaction; and

- the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Construction contracts

Revenue from sale of contracting is recognised over time as the work is performed. In this case
control is transferred to the customer over time. Revenus is recognised on a cost plus basis (incurrcd
cost plus fee) or schedule of rates basis (work physically completed multiplied by rates).

Contract revenue

Contract revenue corresponds to the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and any

variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probablo that thoy
will result in revenue, and they can be reliably measured.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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25

Revenue (continued)
Contract costs

Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific contract and costs that are attributable
to contract activity in general and can be allocated'to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
specific contract comprise: site labour costs! (including site supervision); costs of materials used in
construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract; costs of design, and technical
assistance that is directly related to the contract.

Where contracts include muitiple performance obligations, the transaction price will be allocated to
each performance obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices. Where these are.not directly
observable, they are estimated based on expected cost plus margin. For service contracts including
a goods element, revenue for the separate good is recognised at a point in time when the good is
delivered, the legal title has passed and the customer has accepted the good.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of, progress toward completion are revised if circumstances
change. Any resulting increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs are reflected in profit or
loss in the period in which the circumstances that.give rise to'the revision become known by
management. In case of fixed-price contracts, the customer pays.the fixed amount basedion a
payment schedule. If the services rendered by the Company exceed the payment, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is recognised.

The Company will not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant
financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between transfer of goods or
services and the receipt of payment will be one year or less.

The Company may recognise the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when
incurred, if the expected amortisation period is one year or less.

Going concern

The Directors have performed an assessment on the ability of the Company to operate on a going
concem basis. This includes an assessment of the Company’s financial position and forecast
performance, Heidelberg Materials UK's divisional cash flow forecasts up to December 2026 and
other relevant enquiries, including: the on-going impact of geopolitical instability in Ukraine and the
Middle East and other political uncertainties; energy and raw material market volatility; persistent
inflationary pressures; proposed tariffs; relatively high interest rates and the overarching impact these
factors have on construction and consumer markets, as well as consideration of identifiable risks
made by the uftimate parent undertaking, Heidelberg Materials AG, on their global business activities.
The ultimate parent undertaking continues to operate on a going concem basis.

The Directors continue to see ongoing demand for the Company’s products and have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future having considered the risks and uncertainties that are relevant to both the Company and'its
uitimate parent undertaking and therefore they continue to adopt the going concem basis of
accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. After recognition, under the cost model, intangible
assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Expenditure on computer software which is not deemed to be integral to the computer hardware is
capitalised at cost and amonrtised on a straight line basis over its economic life.
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2.6

2.7

Other intangible assets (continued)

Options to acquire freehold / leasehold mineral bearing land are capitalised and amortised over the
period of the option. Upon exercise any remaining unamortised balance will be treated as the asset
acquisition cost.

The carrying value of intangible fixed assets is reviewed annually for impairment and whether there is
any indicator. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each
financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattem of consumption of
future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amomsauon period
or method, as appropnate and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible assetjare measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the asset is derecognised.

The useful economic lives of intangible assets range from 1 to 6 years.

Goodwill .

Goodwill is the difference between amounts paid on the acquisition of a business and the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities. The UK Companies Act requires goodwill to be reduced by
provisions for depreciation of a systematic basis over a period chosen by the directors, its useful
economic life. However, under IFRS 3 Business Combinations goodwill is not amortised.
Consequently, the Company does not amortise goodwill, but reviews it for impairment on an annual
basis or whenever there are indicators of impairment. The Company is therefore invoking a “true and
fair view override” to overcome the prohibition on the non-amortisation of goodwill in the Companies
Act.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impainrment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Company's cash-generating units-(or groups of cash
generating ‘units) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Each unit or group of units to which
goodwill is allocated shall represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is
monitored far internal management purposes.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

At each reporting date the Company assesses whether there is any indication of impaiment. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined which is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. An impairment loss is recognised where the carmrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
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2.8

2.9

Tangible fixed assets (continued)

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets
less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

Freehold property - up to 50 years

Long term Leasehold Property - over the life of the lease

Plant and machinery - 4 - 30 years

Mineral resources - Based on the tonnage of the material extracted
during the year

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting
date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in profit or loss.

Government grants

Government and similar grants received for the acquisition of assets are recognised only when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and any conditions attached to them have been
fulfilled. The grant is held in the Balance Sheet within deferred income and released to the Statement
of Comprehensive Income over the periods necessary to match the related depreciation charges or
other expenses of the asset as they are incurred.

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are held at historical cost less provision for
impairment:

2.10 Stocks

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, being the estimated selling price less
costs to complete and sell. Cost is based on the cost of purchase on a weighted average basis. Work
in progress and finished goods include labour and attributable overheads.

At each balance sheet date, stocks are assessed for impairment. If stock is impaired, the carrying
amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell: The impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.11 Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either fair value or
amortised cost, depending on the classification of the financial assets.

The Company’s financial assets include cash, trade and other receivables, and amounts due from
group undertakings.
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2.11 Financial instruments (continued)

.
..

Debt instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value where they are financial assets held within
a business model whose objective is to sell the financial asset, and the contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding. Any fair value gains or losses at each reporting period is
‘fecognised in profit or l0ss to the extent they are not part of a designated hedging relationship. The

net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest eamed on the financial
asset.

In addition financial assets where the contractual terms of the financial asset do not give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding are also subsequently measured at fair value.

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Debt instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost where thoy are financial assets held

within a business mode! whose objective is to hold financial assets in ordér to collect contractual cash’
flows, and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Amortised cost is
calculated using. the effective interest method and represents the amount measured at initial
recognmon less repayments of principal plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
alléwance.

Iimpairment of financial assets

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) on investments in debt
instruments that are measured at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective fi nancial
mstrument

The Company always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and amounts due on contracts
with customers. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated based on the
Company's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast dircction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. Lifetime ECL
represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possuble defauit events over the
expected life of a financial instrument.

The ECL required for other debt instruments is determined using a three stage model.

« At the initial recognition of the financial asset an expected credit loss provision is recorded for the
twelve month period following the reporting date. Any interest revenue is calculated on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

+ If the credit risk of that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, a
loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is recorded. Any interest revenue is caiculated
on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. Should the significant increase in credit risk
reverse within subsequent reporting periods then the expected credit losses on the financial
instrument revert to being measured based on an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit
losses.
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2.11 Financlal instruments (continued)
Impalrment of financlal assets (continued)

- If objective evidence of impairment exists, a loss allowance for full lifetime expected credit losses is
recognised: Any interest revenue is calculated on the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowing and
payables, net of directly attributable transactions costs.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described
below:

Fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss, when the financial liability is
held for trading, or is designated as at fair value through profit or loss. This designation may be made
if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency
that would otherwise arise, or the financial liability forms part of a group of financial instruments which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, or the financial liability forms part
of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 pemnits the entire combined
contract to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Any gains or losses arising on
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss to the extent that they are not part of a
designated hedging relationship.

At amortised cost

Financial liabilities which are neither contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, held for trading, nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and'of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability, or where appropriate a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported if there is a currently

enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.12 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
The Company’s functional and presentational currency is Sterling:
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional cumrency using the spot exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

At each period end foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate. Non-
monetary items measured at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction and non-monetary items measured at fair value are measured using the exchange rate
when fair value was determined.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and from the
translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss except when deferred in other comprehensive income as
qualifying cash flow hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within ‘finance income or costs’. All other
foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss within 'other operating income'.

Te

2.13 Pensions

The Company participates in the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme, which is of the funded defined
benefit type that share risks between entities which are under common control. Funds are held
externally under the supervision of the corporate trustee. :

Management has determined that no contractual agreement or stated policy exists for charging to
individual group entities the net defined benefit cost for tho plang as a whole measured in accordance
with IAS 19 'Employee Benefits', as a result, the net defined benefit cost is recognised in these
financial statements as the Company beare the ricks relating to the plans and is considered the
principal sponsoring employer.

The Company also participates in the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (Defined Contribution
Section). Company contnbutlons are expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as
incurred.

2.14 Emission allowances

|

Emission rights are shown as inventories. Emission rights granted free of charge are initially
measured at a nominal value of zero. Emission rights acquired for consideration are accounted for at
cost using the moving average method and are subject to write-down in the event of impairment.
Provisions for the obligation to return emission rights are recognised if the actual C02 emissions up
to reporting date are not covered by emission rights granted free of charge. The amount of provision
for emission rights already acquired for consideration is measured at the carrying amount and, for
emission rights yet to be acquired in order to fulfil the obfigation, at the market value as at the
reporting date.
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2.15 Provisions for liabilities

A provision is recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as'a result of a
past event,and it is probable that:an outflow of economic benefits 'will.be required to settle the
obligation.

Provisions for the expected costs.of rectification, repairs and rationalisation are charged against
profits when required. The effect of:the time value of money: isrnot material and therefore the
provisions are not discounted.

2.16 Restoration provision

The Company aims. to reinstate land following mineral extraction or industrial occupation to a
beneficial use as soon as is reasonably practicable. This is performed by consulting with interested
parties to ensure that the after use is appropriate to both the needs of local people and the natural
environment.

The Company’s accounting policy is to make a provision on a discounted basis to return a quarry site
to a decontaminated, cleared and improved site and to' make provision to restore: the present
extracted areas to currently anticipated after use. The unwinding of discounts relating to restoration
are expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and included In interest payable.

2.17 Current and deferred taxation

Current tax assets and fiabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates and laws that are enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is recognised on all temporary differences arising between:the tax bases of
assets and. liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, with the following
exception:

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

However, for taxable temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries, branches and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, a deferred tax liability shall be recognised in accordance
with IAS 12.38,

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against’'which the deductible temporary differences, camried forward tax credits or tax
losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates
that are expected to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates
and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date. Deferred.
income tax assets and liabilities are offset, only if a Iegally enforcement right exists to set off current’
tax assets against current tax liabilities, the deferred income-taxes relate to the same taxation
authority and that authority permits the company to make a single net payment.

Page 44



HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

&

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 ' t

2.

Accounting policies (continued)

2.17 Current and deferred taxation (continued)

Income tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are
charged or credited to other comprehensive income. Similarly, income tax is charged or credited
directly to equity if it relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity. Otherwise income
tax is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensuve Income.

2.18 Exceptlonal items

The Company presents as exceptional items 'those material items of income and expense which,

because of their nature and expected infrequency of the events giving rico to them, merit separatc

presentation to allow shareholders to understand better the elements of financial perfformance in the

year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and to assess bettef trends in financial
< performance.

2.19 Research and development r
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure on an individual project is
recognised as an intangible asset when the Company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate futurc economic benefits, the availability
of resources to complete the asset and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the cost model is applied
requiring the asset to be carried at.cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impainment losses. Amortisation of the asset begins when development is complete and the asset is
available for use. It is amortised evenly over the period of expected future benefit. During the period
of development, the asset is tested for impaimment annually. .

.

2,20 Exploration for and Evaluaﬂon of Mineral Resources

All costs associated with exploration and evaluation of mineral resources as well as the research
phase, are expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. Property, plant and
equipment that is acquired in the exploration, evaluation phase or development phase which can then
be further utilised within the business irrespective of the outcome of the exploration, evaluation or
development phase is capitalised and depreciated over its useful economic life.

-

5.21 Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interimiequity dividends are
recognised when paid. Final equity dividends are recognised when approved by the shareholders.
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2.22 Leases
The Company as a lessee

The Company assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of a contract. The
Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
agreements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Company
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over.the term of the

lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic ,

benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Leases for quarries do not fall within the scope of,
IFRS 16. These leases are considered pending transactions and the expenses are recognised in the
material costs in the period in which they arise.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. The interest rates were
calculated on the basis of the remaining term of the leases.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

. fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate,initially measured using the index or
rate at the commencement date;

. the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an

option to terminate the lease.
The lease liability is included in 'Creditors' on the Balance Sheet.
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on-
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made.

The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use asset) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised discount rate.
. the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected

payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease
payments. change is due to a change in-a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

. a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate

lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease
payments made. at or before the commencement day and any initial direct costs. They are
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2.22 Leases (continued)
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Company incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under IAS 37. The costs
are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use
asset reflects that the Company expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease. v

The right-of-use assets are included in Tangible Fixed Assets in the Balance Sheet.

The Company applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for
any identified impairment loss as described in note Exceptional ltems.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in profit
or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and
instead account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The
Company has not used this practical expedient. .

3. Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty
Restoration and environmental provisions

Provisions for damages and environmental obligations are measured on the basis of an extrapolation of
the claims and estimates of the development of costs. A change in the influencing parameters may have
an impact on the Statement of Comprehensive Income as well as the amounts recognised in the Balance
Sheet. The recognition and measurement of the other provisions are based on estimates of the
probabilities of future outflow of resources and on the basis of empirical values and the circumstances
known at the reporting date. The actual outflow of resources may differ from the outflow of resources
expected at the reporting date and may have an impact on the recognition and measurement. Further
explanations on provisions can be found in note 25.

Impairment of goodwiil and other non-current assets

A cash flow-based method in accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets) is used to determme the
recoverable amount of cash-generating units as part of the impairment test for goodwill and other non-
current assets. In particular, estimates are required in rélation to future cash flows of the groups of cash-
generating units as well as to the discount rates used (discounted cash flow method).

- Cash flow estimates extend over a five-year planning period, after which a terminal value is applied. A
three-year detailed bottom-up operational plan approved by the Directors forms the basis for these
estimates.

- The sales volumes derived from the demand are generally based on the latest industry estimates and
assumption of constant market shares.

- Variable costs are assumed to evalve in line with the projected development of sales volumes and
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3.,

Judgements in.applying accounting policies (continued)

prices.
- In view of the volatility:in the energy markets, we expect high energy costs in the year ahead which will
ease again over the course of the planning horizon.

- The variables used in the WACC calcluation are the risk-free rate, market risk premium, volatility
(levered and unlevered beta) and the gearing ratio. The credit spread as premium to the risk-free rate was
derived from the rating of the homogenous peer group. The peer group is subjected to an annual review
and adjusted if necessary. The following rates were used in the impairment test.

2024 2023
Weighted average cost of capital before taxes 11.00%| 10.83%
Perpetual growth rate 2% 2%

A change .in the influencing factors may have a significant impact- on. the' existence or amount' of
impairment losses. Explanations concemmg the composition of the carrying amount of goodwill and other
non-current assets and the impairment tests are provided in note 15 and note 16 respectively.

‘lin_pairment of investments

The Company reviews investments in subsidiaries and other investments for impairment if there are any
indications that the carrying. values may not be recoverable. The carrying :valuerof the investment is
compared to the recoverable amount and where a deficiency exists, an impairment charge is considered
by management.

The recoverable amount.represents the net assets of the investment at the time of the review or where
applicable is represented by an estimate of future cash flows.expected to arise from the investment. A
suitable discount rate is applied to the future cash ﬂows in order to calculate the present value.

Reversals of impairments are. recognised where there is a favourable change. in the economic
assumptions in the period since the provision was made.

Recoverability of amounts owed by,group undertakings

The Company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses an investments in debt instruments
that'are measured. at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

Estimating the defined benefit pension scheme obligations

Measurement of defined benefit pension obligations requires estimation of future changes in inflation and
mortality rates, and the selection of a suitable discount rate. See note 28 for further details.
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4,

Turnover

Turnaver is attributable to the continuing activity of the supply of building materials and services to the

construction industry.

An analysis of tumover by class of business is as follows:

Sale of goods
Rendering of services

All turnover arose within the United Kingdom.

Timing of revenue recognition:

Goaods transferred at a point in time
Services transferred over time

2024 2023

£000 £000
948,065 979,717
134,838 121,167
1,082,803 1,100,884
e — e —
2024 2023

£000 £000
948,065 979,717
134,838 121,167
1,082,903 1,100,884

. — -] . —

The Company applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose
information about remaining performance obligations that have original expectod durations of one year or

less.

The amount of revenue recognised in 2024 that was included in. the contract liability balance at the

beginning of the year is £3,975,000 (2023 - £1,908,000).

Other operating income

Other operating income

Net rents receivable

Profit on disposal of tangible assets
Foreign exchange gains

2024 2023
£000 £000
21,615 15,969
3,649 4,704
21,372 10,972
88 71
46,724 31,716
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6.  Other operating expenses’

Distribution expenses

Selling and administrative expenses
Expenses for third party repairs and services
Rental and leasing expenses

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets
Other taxes

Foreign exchange losses.

Other expenses

7. Exceptional items

‘Restructuring costs

Impairment of tangible fixed assets
Impairment reversal of tangible fixed assets
Impairment of fixed asset investment

~ During the year, the Company committed to redundancy costs of £589,000 (2023 - £629,000).

2024 2023
£000 £000
372,853 166,409
960 679
© 9,801 12,090
13,591 12,892
1,205 1,355
. 136
21 113
31,089 33,507
229,610 227,281
2024 2023
£000 £000
589 629
. 3,142
(7,350) (2,519)
33,312 287,619
26,551

288,871

In the prior year management identified some sites which were impacted by weakening local market

conditions and an impairment of tangible fixed assets of £3,142,000 was made.

During the year an assessment of the impact of changing market conditions -on the business was
undertaken and as a result, £7,350,000 of the impairment of tangible fixed assets made in previous years:

was reversed (2023 - £2,519,000):.

During the.year, the Company impaired its investment in Hanson Building Materials Europe-Limited by
£33,312,000 to bring the carrying value in line with the underlying net assets following the receipt of a
dividend and a-deterioration in the performance of the Company’s' operating subsidiaries.. Net assets’
have been used as an approximation of.the fair value less costs of disposal. In the prior year, .the
Company had impaired this investment. by, £287,619,000 following the receipt of dividends. totalling’

£308,616,000.

2
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Auditors' remuneration

The Company paid the following amounts to its auditors in respact of the audit of the financial statements
and for other services provided to the Company:

2024 2023
£000 £000
Audit services 799 750
Other services R 2 2
" 801 752

p———]

Fees for audit services include costs incurred on behalf of other group undertakings. It is not practicable
to ascertain what proportion of such fees relate to other group undertakings.

Staff costs

Staff costs were as follows:

: 2024 2023
<. " £000 £000
Wages and salaries " " 114,283 112,873
Social security costs . 12,840 12,030
Cost of defined benefit pension scheme 2,023 1,895
Cost of defined contribution pension scheme : 14,437 12,926

143,583 139,724

——_—————

Included within wages and salarles above is a charge of £1,199,000 (2023 - £1,291,000) in relation to the
Heideberg Matenals AG Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP).

The average monthly number of employees, including the Directors, during the year was as follows:

2024 2023

No. No.

Production and distribution 947 1,034
Administrative and sales 1,143 1,147
2,090 2,181
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31, DECEMBER 2024.

10. Directors' remuneration,

Directors’ emoluments ,
Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes

The figures for Director's remuneration relate to UK paid Directors only.

2024. 2023
£000 £000
3,561 3,167

123 104
3,674 3,271

During the year retirement benefits, were accruing to .8 Directors (2023 - 7) in respect of defined

contribution pension schemes:

The highest UK paid Director received remuneration of £891,000 (2023 - £830,000).

The,value of the Company's contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of the

hiﬁhest paid Director amounted to £10,000 (2023 - £9,000).

The Directors of the Company are also directors of @ number of the group's fellow subsidiaries.

11. ..Interest receivable and similar income

Net interest on defined ‘beneﬁt pension asset
Interest receivable from group companies

Interest payable and similar expenses:

Other interest payable

2024 2023
£000 £000
21,545 23,970
14,950 12,936
2024 2023
£000 £000
10,787 8,175

Page 52;



HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

13.

Current and deferred taxation

2024 2023
£000 £000
Corporation tax
Current tax on profits for the year 13,992 11,153
Adjustments in respect of previous periods {6,985) 1,247
Total current tax 7,007 12,400
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences 9,513 12,237
Adjustments in respect of previous periods 11,863 14,141
Total deferred tax 21,376 26,378

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 28,383 38,778

Reconciliation of the tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2023 - higher than) the standard rate of corporation tax in

the UK of 25% (2023 - 23.5%). The differences are explained below:

2024 2023
£000 £000
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 107,654 144,595
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 25% (2023 -23.5%) 26,914 33,980
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes, other than goodwill amortisation
and impairment 8,470 67,689
Changes to tax rates - 734
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods 4,878 15,388
Book profit on chargeable assets - (5,338) (2,396)
Capital gains 1,644 3,273
Non taxable dividends from UK companies (10,003) (77,227)
Tax losses not recognised in deferred tax (3.630) (2,241)
Group relief - (3,758)
Transfer pricing adjustments 5,648 3,336
Total tax charge for the year 28,383 38,778

+
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31' DECEMBER 2024

13.  Current and deferred taxation (continued)

Change in corporation tax rate

The main rate of corporation tax is 25%(2023 - 23.5%).

14. Intangible assets

Cost

At 1 January 2024

Additions

Intra-group transfers
¢ Disposals

At 31 December 2024
Amortisation
At 1 January 2024

Charge for the year on owned assets
On disposals

At 31 December 2024

Net book value

At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

Other
Computer intangible
software assets Total
£000 £000 £000
12,390 131 12,521
123 - 123
92 - 92
(22) - (22)
12,583 131 12,714
12,210 94 12,304
43 - 43
(22) - (22)
12,231 94 12,325
352 37 389
C— =
37 217

180
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED B

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

15. Goodwill
, 2024
£000
Cost w . ; V -
At 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 8,401
Accumulated impairmor‘lt
At 1'January 2024 and 31 December 2024 3,284
Net book value -
At 31 December 2024 5117
. < —r—aae
At 31 December 2023 ' 5117

The UK Companies Act requires goodwill to be reduced by provisions for depreciation on a systematic
basis over a period chosen by the directors, its useful economic life. However, under IFRS 3 Business
Combinations, goodwill is not amortised. Consequently, the Company does not amortise goodwill, but
reviews it for impairment on an annual basis or whenéver there” are indicators of’impairment. The
Company is therefore invoking a "true and fair view override" to overcome the prohibition for the non-
amortisation of goodwill required by the Companies Act. Had the Company amortised goodwill, a period
of 20 years would have been chosen as its useful economic life. There would have been no impact on the
profit for the year (2023 - no impact) as the goodwill would have been fully amortised dué to the passage
of 20 years had goodwill been amortised on this basis.

W *
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

16. Tangible fixed assets

ROU
Property Property ROU Plant
and mineral Plant and -and Mineral and
resources: machinery Resources Machinery Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2024 552,381 557,161 91,949 39,258 1,240,749
Additions - 55,642 10,698 12,488 78,828
Disposals (36,463): (30,297) (8,444) (9,451) (84,855)
Transfers between classes 29,202 (29,294) - - (92)
At 31 December 2024 545,120 553,212 94,203 42,295 1,234,830
Depreciation.
At 1 January 2024 282,052 347,972 27,346 30,587 687,957
Charge for the year on owned : ,
assets - 6,397 18,794 . - 25,191
Charge for the year on right-
of-use assets - - 5,691 7,904 13,595
Disposals (25,092) (26,065) (566) (9,081) (60,804)
Impairment losses written
back (5,816) (1,534) - - (7,350)
At 31 December, 2024 257,541 339,167 32,471 29410 658,589
Net book value
At 31 December 2024 287,579 214,045 61,732 12,885 576,241
e e ——— e — —————— =., —

At 31 December 2023 270,329 209,189 64,603 8,671 552,792

During the year an assessmentiof the impact of changing market conditions on the business was
undertaken and as a result, £7,350,000 of the impairment of tangible fixed assets made in previous years
was reversed.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED 3 .

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

16.

Tangible fixed assets (continued)

The net book value of property and mineral resources may be further analysed as follows:
-]

| 2024 2023

£000 £000

Freehold land and buildings 241,141 228,823
Leasehold property ' 26439 41,506
287,579 270,329

In accordance with IAS 36 'Impairment of Asscts’ the carrying values of the Company’s assets at 31
December 2024 have been compared to their recoverable amounts, represented by their value in use to

- the Company.

The historical cost of mineral bearing land chown at valuation amounts to £163,400,000 as at 31
December 2024 (2023 - £192,762,000) and the accumulated depreciation thereon would have been
£168,433,000 (2023 - £179,903,000). . .

Mineral bearing land was revalued internally, on an open market value for existing use basis on 1 July
1989 by a professionally qualified surveyor. ,

The net book value of assets held at valuation was £235,968,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023 -
£243,824,000). Total cost and valuation as at 31 December 2024 was £467,472,000 (2023 -
£496,743,000). Accumulated depreciation at 31 December 2024 was £231,504,000 (2023 -
£252,919,000).

Plant and machinery includes £26,022,000 (2023 - £29,120,000) in respect of assets in the course of
construction.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

17. Fixed asset investments:

LM

1@Vestments
in
subsidiary
companies
£000
Cost or valuation
At 1.January 2024 2,365,362
Additions- 238,787
At 31 December 2024 2,604,149
impairment
At 1 January 2024, 2,015,307
Charge for the period 33,312
At 31 December 2024 12,048,619
Net book value
At 31- December 2024 ] 555,530
_m

At 31 December 2023 350,055

On 3 May 2024 the Company acquired the share capital of Mick George Limited, together with some of
its subsidiaries, for initial. consideration of £159,648,000 and deferred and contingent consideration of
£18,738,000 and incurred acquisition costs of £2,245,000.

On 17 May 2024 the Company acquired the share capital of Balla'lHomes Ltd for total consideration of
£691,000 and incurred acquisition costs of £108,000 and the share capital of Bristol & Avon .Group-
Limited, together with’some of its subsidiaries, for initial consideration of £48,335,000 and additional and
contingent consideration of £4,898,000 and incurred acquisition costs of £1'463,000.

During the year, the Company impaired its investment.in Hanson Building Materials Europe Limited by
£33,312,000 to bring the carrying value in line with the underlying net assets. Net assets have been used
as an approximation of the fair value less costs of disposal.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

17.

18.

Fixed asset investments (continued)

Subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the Company directly held any class of share capital are as follows:

Name
Cumbrian Industriats Limited

Habfield Limited

Hanson Building Materials Europe -

Limited

* Midland Quarry Products Limited

Charterneed Limited

Mick George Limited

Bristo! & Avon Group Limited

Balla Homes Limited

Country of
incorporation
England and

" Wales

England and
Wales
England and

Wales

England and
Wales

England and
Wales

England and
Wales

England and
Wales

England and
Wales

Class of
shares
Ordinary

Deferred
Ordinary

A Ordinary

B Ordinary
A Ordinary

B Ordinary
C Ordinary
Ordinary

A Ordinary
B Ordinary
C Ordinary
D Ordinary
€ Ordinary

F Ordinary
G Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Holding
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%°

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%

The registered office of all investments. is Second Floor, Arena Coun,

Berkshire, SL6 8QZ.

+

A full listing of indirectly held investments fs presénted within Appendix |.

Stocks

Raw materials and consumables

Finished goods and goods for resale

Replacement costs of stock

-

Principal activity
Group finance and property
holding company

Property rental company

Investment holding company

Aggregates and asphait
production

Investment holding company

tr

Production and supply of
building materials

Investment holding company

Property rental company

Crown Lane, Maidenhead,

2024 2023
£000 £000
15,684 16,444
38,747 47,201

54,431

63,645

The difference between purchase price or production cost of stocks and their replacement cost is not

material.

= Page 59



HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR,THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

19. Debtors

Due after more than one year

Defined benefit pension scheme asset (see note 28)

Other debtors
Amounts recoverable on long-term contracts

Due within one year

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings

Other debtors

Prepayments and accrued income

Amounts recoverable on long-term contracts

2024 2023
£000 £000
441,221 483,977
622 576
253 481
442,096 485,034
2024 2023
£000 £000
52,764 49,744
727,768 995,105
26,707 29,252
17,083 17,090
16,979 11,580
841,301

1,102,771,

Included within amounts owed by group undertakings is an amount of £218,977,000 (2023 -
£397,793,000) which accrues interest at SONIA and is repayable on demand and a loan note of
£70,000,000 (2023 - nil) which accrues interest at a rate of 6.94598% and is repayable by 3 May 2025.

These amounts are unsecured

The remaining amounts owed by group undertakings are interest free, unsecured, have no fixed date of

repayment and are repayable on demand.

Amounts recoverable on contracts comprise:

Recorded contract tumover
Less: payments on account

2024 2023
£000 £000
258,285 192,233
(241,053)  (180,172)
17,232 12,061
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

19. Debtors (continued)

*

In respect of long term construction contracts in progress at the balance sheet date:

Contract costs incurred to date
Recognised losses to date
Contract retentions

20. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand

21. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Payments received on account
Trade creditors

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Corporation tax

Other taxation and social security
Lease liabilities

Other creditors

Accruals and deferred income

2024 2023

£000 £000
32,709 16,723
._= _=== .
2024 2023

£000 £000

8,280 13,386

1

2024 2023

£000 £000

12,199 10,341
137,666 142,205
140,735 293,625
7,338 4,978

2,240 1,803
9,484 8,635
38,690 37,287
28,957 21,401
377,309 520,275

1

Amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and

are repayable on demand.

22. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Lease liabilities
Other creditors

2024 2023
£000 £000
67,594 70,634
3,325 177
70,919 70,811
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO.THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

22,

23.

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Creditors falling due after more than one year include amounts falling due as follows:*

2024 2023 "

£000 £000 -
Between one to five years 26,451 23,937
After five years 44,468 46,874

70,919 70,811

Leases
Company as a lessee
The Company leases property, plant and machinery as well as vehicles used by its employees. .

Lease liabilities are due as follows:"

2024 2023
£000 £000
Not later than one year 9,484 ' 8635
Between one and five years 24,934 23,937-
Later than five years 42,660 46,697

77,078 79,269

During the year, the total interest expense incurred on lgases is £2,834,000 (2023 - £2,444,000) and the
total payments in respect of leases is £15,866,000 (2023 - £15,231,000).

F
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

24. Deferred taxation

Deferred Tax Liability

At beginning of year

Charged to Statement of Comprehensive income
Credited to other comprehensive income
Transferred from group undertakings

At end of year

)

Accelerated capital allowances
Other temporary differences
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension

T

2024 2023
£000 £000
(167,599)  (148,422)
(21,376) (26,378)
10,963 7,201 :
(23) - '
(178,035)  (167,599)
—_——— =
2024 2023
£000 £000
(56.948)  (44.165)
(10,782) (2,440)
(110,305)  (120,994) |
(178,035)

(167,599)

Deferred tax has been recognised at 25% (2023 - 25%), being the enacted main rate of corporation tax at
the balance sheet date on which the deferred tax liability is expected to be settied.

A potential deferred tax asset of £64,694,000 (2023 - £68,324,000) in respect of tax losses carried !
forward has not been recognised as it is uncertain whether relevant taxable profits to offset these losses

would arise in future periods.

e
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED'

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

25,

26.

27.

, Provisions
Restoration
_ and
Other environment Total
£000! £000 £000
At 1 January 2024 10,441 22,974 33,415
Charged to profit or, loss 517 3,723 4,240
Utilised in year (2,797) (5,034) (7.831)
At 31iDecember 2024 | 8,161 21,663 29,824
——e
Other

Other provisions include amounts committed in respect of redundancy and other restructuring costs and
provisions for rectification works. where instances of defective supply have been notified. The provisions
are expected to be utilised within 3 years.

Restoration & environmental’

Restoration and environmental provisions relate mainly to the costs of restoring quarries and other sites
after use as required by legal or other constructive requirements. Restoration and environmental
provisions. will be utilised as and when mineral reserves at the Company's quarries are extinguished,

which can last from 6 months up to 60 years.

Provisions for terminal restoration have been discounted at 3.99% (2023 - 3.99%) per annum on current
prices and' where appropriate have been established after taking account of the advice of suitably
qualified and experienced consultants and after establishing the costs in line with cument practice and'
standards. All amounts greater than 12 months are discounted.

Share capital
2024 2023
- £000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid -’

103,833,567 (2023 - 103,833,567) ordinary shares of £0.50 each 51,917 51,917

The Company has no authorised share capital limit.

Reserves

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the excess of the fair value of land and buildings over cost: Since 2017
no transfer has been performed between the revaluation reserve and the profit. and loss account astit is
not a mandatory requirement.

Other reserves

Other reserves includes a capital reserve which represents amounts received from Hanson Trustees
Limited for the purpose of paying future liabilities relating to the closure of employee share schemes.
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HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED : i

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS '
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 ’

28.

Pension commitments

During the year, the Company participated in the defined benefit section of the Hanson Industrial Pension
Scheme (the "Scheme") and relevant employees are eligible for benefits under this funded defined
benefit Scheme. Funds are held externally under the supervision of the corporate trustee (the "Trustee").
The Company participates in the Scheme along with several other UK companics within the Heidelberg
Materials AG group (the "Group"):

The results of the latest funding valuation at 31 December 2021 have been adjusted to the balance sheet
date by an independent actuary from AON Hewitt Limited taking account of experience over the period.
since 31 December 2021, changes in market conditions, and differences in the financial and
demographn- aqqumpﬂnm The present value of the defined benefit obligation; and the related current
service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The Scheme was closed to future accruals in September 2010. Scheme assets are stated at their market
values at the respective balance sheet dates.

On 30 November 2024, the Hanson No. 2 Pension Scheme (No 2 Scheme) sponsored by a fellow group
undertaking, Hanson Building Materials Limited, was merged into the Hanson Industriai Pension Scheme
(The "Scheme™ which is sponsored by the Company. The transaction resulted in the transfer of the
defined benefit pension assets and obligations of the No 2 Scheme into the Scheme. The merger did not
result in any changes to the benefits provided to the members of either scheme. The assets and liabilities
of the Scheme are recognised in the financial statements of the Company and the balances at 31
December were:

.

2024 2023
£000 £000

Scheme assets at fair value .
Cash and cash equivalents +- ; 134,639 34,680
Equity 1 54,495 143,443
Interest rate swaps (1,771) 48
Nominal government bonds 480,853 565,216
Nominal corporate bonds 109,292 121,984
Index linked bonds 629,071 623,376
Real estate 15,372 92,329
- 43,107 5,563
Insurance policies - .
Fair value of Scheme assets 1,565,058 1,586,639

1,123,837 1,102,662
Present value of Scheme Liabilities ( 37) (1.102,662)

Defined benefit Scheme assets 441,221 483,977
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

28.

Pension commitments (continued)
Scheme assets can be further disaggregated as:

Equity

- Investment of £53,936,000 is in a pooled investment world  equity fund,with inputs based on indirectly
observable quoted prices.

- Investment of £100,559,000 is in:a pooled investment infrastructure equity fund with inputs that are
unobservable.

Interest rate swaps
- Interest rate swaps have inputs that are unobservable.

Real estate

- Investments in property funds are unlisted and the inputs are unobservable.The value of the “buy-in"
insurance policies held: in the name of the Trustee has been set equal to the value of the matched
liabilities.

- The Company and Trustee have agreed a long-term strategy for reducing investment risk as and when
appropriate.

- This includes an asset-liability matching policy which aims to reduce the volatility of the funding level of
the Scheme by investing in assets such as swaps which perform in line with the liabilities of the Scheme
so as to protect against inflation being higher than expected.

The Trustee aims to achieve the Scheme’s investment objectives through investing partly in a diversified
mix of . growth assets which, over the long term, are expected to grow in value by more than low risk
assets like cash and gilts. This is done within a broad liability driven investing framework that uses cash,
gilts and other hedging instruments like swaps in a capital efficient way. In combination this efficiently
captures the Trustee risk tolerances and return objectives relative to the Scheme's liabilities. A number of
investment managers are appointed to promote diversification by assets, organisation and investment
style.

The Scheme has not directly invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or
other assets used by the Group.

Included within the Statement of Comprehensive Income

2024 2023

£000 £000
Expected return on Scheme assets (70,014) (75,238)
Interest on pension liabilities 48,469 51,295
Included within other finance expense (21,545) (23,943)
Current service cost 2,023 1,895
Administrative expenses 2,189 1,408
Total (17.333)  (20,640)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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28. Pension commitments (continued)

included within Other Comprehensive (expense)/income

2024 2023
 £000 £000
Actuarial loss on Scheme assets 122,448 12,635
Actuarial (gain)/lass on Scheme liabilities : - (78,595) 16,169
Net loss on Scheme ,- 43,853 28,804
The main actuarlal assumptions used in the valuation are set out below:
2024 2023
% %
"Rate of salary i increases” ' 3.20 3.056
Rate of increase in pensuon payments LPI| 5% 2.80 288
Discount rate ' 5.45 4.55
RPI inflation assumption ~ 3.10 3.05
CP! inflation assumption 2.70 2.55

* For 2024 this reflects CPI inflation + 0.5% p.a. (2023 - CPI inﬂati_cm +0.5% p‘é.).

The mortality assumptions are based on recent actual mortality experience of members within the
Scheme with an allowance for future improvements. The assumptions mean that a member currently
aged 65 is expected to live on average for a further 20.9 years if they are male (2023 - 20.9 years) and for
a further 22.9 years if they are female (2023 - 22.9 years).

For a member who retires in 2045 (2023 - 2044) at the age of 65 the assumptions are that they will live on
average for a further 21.8 years after retirement if they are male (2023 - 21.9 years), and for a further 24.0
years after retirement if they are female (2023 - 24.1 years).

The sensitivity of the present value of Scheme liabilities to changes in the principal assumptions used is

set out below.

Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities
Discount rate Increase / decrease 0.5% Decrease 5% / increase 5%
Rate of pension increase Increase / decrease 0.25% Increase 2% / decrease 2%

Life expectancy Increase / decrease 1 year Increase 4% / decrease 4%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

28. Pension commitments (continued)

Changes in present value of the defined benefit obligations are analysed as follows:.

Opening defined benefit obligation
Hanson No. 2 Scheme merger

Current service cost

Interest cost

Actuarial (gain) / loss on Scheme liabilitiés
Net benefits paid out.

Closing defined benefit obligation

2024 2023

£000- £000°
1,102,662 1,103,983

124,097 -

2,023 1,895
48,469 51,295
(78,595) 16,169

(74,819) (70,680).
1,102,662

1,123,837

The actuarial (gain)floss on Schemes liabilities can be broken down into effects from the adjustment of
financial assumptions resulting in a- gain of £82,383,000 (2023 -:£22,722,000 loss), effects from
experience adjustments resulting in a loss. of £65,774,000 (2023'loss - £9 726,000), and effects from
changes in démographic assumptions resulting in a gain of £1,986,000 (2023'gain - £16,279,000).

Changes in the fair value of the Scheme assets are analysed as follows:

Opening fair value of Scheme assets

Hanson No. 2 Scheme merger.

Expected return on Scheme assets
Administrative expenses paid by the Scheme
Actuarial losses on Scheme assets.
Contributions (paid) / received by the employers
Net benefits paid out

Closing fair value of Scheme assets

2024 2023
£000 “ £000
1,566,639 1,612,346
126598° , -
70,014 75,238
(2,189), (1,408)
(122,448)  (12,635)
(18,737)  (16,222)
(74.819)  (70,680)

1,565,058

1,586,639

Page 68



HANSON QUARRY PRODUCTS EUROPE LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

28.

Pension commitments (continued)

Amounts for the current and previous four years:

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 .
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Fair value of Scheme assets 1,565,058 1,586,639 1,612,346 2,325,635 2,380,513
Defined benefit obligation (1,123,837) (1,102,662) (1,103,983) (1,686,298) (1,865,761)
:. - oA :

. 441221 483977 508363 639,337 = 514,752
Surplus in Scheme

Experience (losses)/gains on

Scheme assets (122,448) (12,635) . (675,653) (892) 182,621
Experience (losses)/gains on

Scheme liabilities * (5,774) (9.726) (8,974) (6,117) 17,984

* This item consists of (losses)/gains in respect of Inabalrty experiencse only and excludes any change in
liabilities in respect of changes to the actuarial assumptions used.

UK legislation rcquircs that pension schemes aro funded prudently. The latest funding valuation as at 31
December 2021 was agreed on 22 December 2022. The valuation showed a surplus of £358,500,000,
therefore no deficit recovery contributions are required. As part of the valuation it has been agreed that
the Company will pay no contributions in respect of death in service, incapacity retirement and
redundancy retirement benefits. Expenses, including levies payable to the Pensions Protection Fund
(PPF) are met out of the Scheme assets. The next funding vatuation is due with an effective date no later
than 31 December 2024.

The Scheme also has a contingent funding mechanism in place whereby further contributions are
payable to the Scheme based on operating income targets agreed between the employers and tho
Trustee. Once the Scheme is in sumlus, contingent funding mechanism contributions are no longer
payable. .

The Company has guaranteed a proportion of the funding obligations that the other funding sponsors of
the Scheme have to that Scheme. In addition, the ultimate parent undertaking, Heidelberg Materials AG
has guaranteed the entire funding obligations of the Scheme.

The Company also participates in the Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (Defined Contribution Section).
The charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of this section of the Scheme was
£14,437,000 (2023 - £12,926,000). Contributions in relation to the Defined Contribution Section are met
from the Scheme's surplus. The forecast contributions payable for the year ending 31 December 2025
from the Scheme's surplus are expected to be £19,000,000.

At the year end, there were unpaid defined benefit pension contributions of £nil (2023 - £nil) and unpaid
defined contribution pension contributions of £1,933,000 (2023 - £2,388,000) included in other creditors.

The Company recognises the Scheme surplus in accordance with the requirements of IFRIC 14 "The
Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction”. The Trustee of
the Scheme does not have the unilateral right to commence wind-up of the Scheme. Thus, the Company
assumes that the Scheme continues in existence until the last benefit payments are made to members,
at which point any residual assets are returned to the employer in line with the rules of the Scheme.
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28.

29.

30.

Pension commitments (continued)

As part of the Company’s ongoing review of its defined benefit pension arrangements, legal advice was
obtained in relation to the implications of the Virgin Media v NTL Trustees case and its interpretation of
Section 37 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993. This case clarified. the formal requirements for actuarial
confirmation in respect of amendments made to contracted-out defined benefit schemes between 6 April
1997 and 5 April 2016. On 5 June 2025, the UK Govemment announced its intention to introduce
legislation allowing schemes to retrospectively obtain written actuarial confirmation forhistoric benefit
changes.There is no impact expected as a result of this.

The Hanson Industrial Pension Scheme (“HIPS”) was contracted out on a salary-related basis until its
closure to future accrual in 2010. A review,of the scheme's amending documentation during the relevant
period indicates that:

« The majority of amendment deeds either explicitly include the required actuarial confirmation or relate
to changes (e.g. to defined contribution benefits) for which such confirmation was not required.
¢ A limited number of deeds are silent on the matter of actuarial confirmation.

In accordance with the legal advice received; where any uncertainty exists, the Trustees have the power,
subject to employer consent, to execute retrospective amendments to regularise the position.
Furthermore, none of the identified amendments purport to reduce future benefits.

Based on this analysis, the Company considers the likelihood of a material increase in: liabilities arising
from Section 37 compliance issues to be low. Accordingly, no adjustment has been made to the defined
benefit obligation in respect of these matters as at the reporting date.

Contingent liabilities:

Guarantees relating to performance bonds on certain construction supply contracts and financial
commitments of haulage contractors made in the normal course of business, which are not expected to
crystallise amounted to £5,268,000 (2023 - £5,587,000).

The Company has been notified of a number of claims from former employees in relation to alleged health
related issues. The Directors do not consider.it probable that a material outflow of economic resources
will be required to settle the obligation-nor can the amount of any obligation be measured with sufficient
reliability.

Capital commitments

At 31 December the Company had capital commitments as follows:

2024 2023
£000 £000
Contracted for but not provided in these financial statements 526 146
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31.

32,

Commitments under operating leases ‘

At 31 December the Company had future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable operating
leases for each of the following periods:

2024 2023

£000 £000
Not later than 1'year ' h 85 249
N P ——— I —————

Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 8(k) of FRS 101 not to disclose
transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries in-the group b headed by Heidelberg Materials AG. Balances
outstanding at 31 December with wholly owned Subsidiari€s, afe as follows:

2024 2023

£000 £000
Amounts owed by ultimate parent undertaking 218,977 397,793
Amounts owed by indirect/direct parent undertakings 328,380 328,380
Amounts owed by indirect/direct subsidiary undertakings 81,315 24,131
Amounts owed by fellow group subsidiary undertakings 99,096 244 801
Amounts owed to indirect/direct subsidiary undertakings (107,845) (126,381)
Amounts owed to fellow group subsidiary undertakings (32,890) (167,244)

587,033 701,480

Transactions with related parties; other than wholly owned subsidiaries.

Calumite Limited
During the year the Company charged staff costs amounting to £592,000 (2023 - £576,000) to Calimite
Limited. At the year end the Company was owed £109,000 (2023 - £47,000) by Calumite Limited.

North Tyne Roadstone Limited

The Company has provided loans to North Tyne Roadstone Limited amounting to £938,000 (2023 -
£750,000). The loans are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and is repayable on
demand. At the year the Company had provided £938,000 (2023 - £750,000) against the amounts owed
by North Tyne Roadstone Limited.

Mendip Rail Limited

During the year the Company incurred distribution costs of £36,370,000 (2023 - £48,307,000) and third-
party repairs and services of £307,000 (2023 - £nil) from Mendip Rail Limited. At the year end the
Company owed £3,041,000 (2023 - £2,080,000) to Mendip Rail Limited.

New Milton Sand and Gravel Limited

During the year the Company made sales of £427,0000 (2023 - £233,000) for aggregates and £230,000
(2023 - £163,000) for sand and gravel to New Milton Sand and Ballast Limited. In the prior year the
Company also made sales of £61,000 for concrete to New Milton Sand and Ballast Limited. In addition,
the Company received management fees totalling £225,000 (2023 - £308,000) and received royalties of
£126,000 (2023 - £nil) for the sterilisation of material from New Milton Sand and Ballast Limited. At the
year end the Company was owed £272,000 (2023 - £214,000) by New Milton Sand and Ballast Limited.
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33.

Ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party

The Company's immediate, parent undertaking is UDS (No 10), a company registered in England and
Wales. The Company's ultimate parent undertaking is Heidelberg Materials AG, a company registered in
Germany. The largest and smallest group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that
headed by HeidelbergiMaterials AG. Copies of the consolidated financial statements of. Heidelberg
Materials AG may be obtained from Berliner Strasse 6, D 69120 Heidelberg, Germany.
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_ . - Group cate
(LTS L O N Country of ownership
Name Hoton _ incorporation % Registered office
A:R:C: (Western) Limited ** England and Wales™ ™ " "100 * Yooa

Finance Limited

A1 Services (Manchéster) Limited England and Wales 100 *
~ ARC Concrete (Anglia) Limited England and Wales 100 *
ARC South Wales Limited . _ England and Wales 100 * .
ARC Wales Mortar Limited | England and Wales 00 *
ARC South Wales Quarries Limited  England and Wales 100 * .
ARC South Wales SurfacingLimited  England and Wales 100 . D e
. Agecroft Management Ltd England and Wales ,,, 31.08 5th Floor M|nerva House,
G e - 29 East Parade, LS15PS,
M e Leeds, United Kingdom
Bristol & Avon Stone Supplies England and Wales , . , 100 *. <
Limited o :
Bristol & Avon Transport & Recyclmg England and Wales 100 * ] o o .
Ltd ' '
"Cambridgeshire Aggregates Limited _ England and Wales "'50 Bardon Hill, Bardon Road,
-t S o “¥ - "Coalville, Leicestershire,
o -4 ' . LE671TL, United ngdom
Claughton Manor Brick Limited England and Wales 100 1 *- - vl
_(The) ! - S
DRBS East Limited England and Wales 100 *. ey ML
Drew Group Holdings Limited England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX,
0t e A ~1¢ + »New Milton, United
C W T Kingdom « .

* F.C. Precast Concrete Limited England and Wales . . 100, * . . .. "
Frimstone Limited: England and Wales 100 *

Hanson Aggregates Marine Limited  England and Wales 100 *

- Hanson Aggregates South Wales England and Wales 100 * ot LT
Holdings Limited " P
Hanson Aggregates South Wales England and Wales 100 *

Limited - 5 Lot o " "

- Hanson Bath and Partland Stone England and Wales 100- *

- Limited ho T '
Hanson Blocks North Limited England and Wales 100 *
Hanson Building Products (2003) England and Wales 100 * ! ! '
Limited . ! L P £ el
Hanson.Concrete Products Limited England and Wales -~ 100 -*. e T
Hanson Crewing Services Limited England and Wales - -, + 2100 *- . AN
Hanson Facing Bricks Limited England and Wales 100 * ' a
Hanson Marine Holdings Limited England and Wales ¢ 100 _* . vy
Hanson Marine Limited "~ England and Wales 100 *
Hanson Quarry Products Holdings England and Wales 100 *
Limited -
Hanson Quarry Products Trade England and Wales 100 *
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Name’ . -incorporation % Registered office
Hanson Quarry Products Ventures England and Wales 100 * o
_Limited ,,
Holme Sand & Ballast LLP England and Wales 2450 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX,
New Milton, United
, Kingdom
Humber Sand and Gravel Limited England and Wales 50 CEMEX House, Binley
‘ . Business Park, Harry
Weston Road, Coventry,
CV3 2TY, United Kingdom
_Kingston Minerals Limited England and Wales - 100 * " o
Manchester Waste Recycling England and Wales 100 *
Limited ’ :
Marples Ridgway Limited England and Wales 100 * .
Mendip Rail Limited England and Wales™: 50 -Bardon Hill, Bardon Road,
o LE67 1TL, Coalville, United
» Kingdom
“Mick George Concrete Limited England and Wales - 100 * '
“Mick George Contracting Limited England and Wales 100 *
Mick George Demolition Limited England and Wales 100 *
Mick George EBT Trustee Limited England and Wales 100 *
Mick George Earthworks Limited England and Wales 100 *
Mick George Environmental Limited ~ England and Wales 100 *
Mick George Mepal Limited England and Wales 1000 *
~Mick George Recycling Limited England and Wales 100 *
Milton Hall (Southend) Brick England and Wales 100 *
. Company Limited (The) , : . S
National Brick Company Limited England and Wales 100 *
National Star Limited' England and Wales 100 *
New Milton Concrete Limited England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX,
ot - New Milton, United .
L Kingdom .
New Milton Sand and Ballast England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25. 5PX
Limited New Milton, United
. ) ~_Kingdom.
" North Tyne Roadstone Limited ~ England and Wales " 50 Ground Floor T3 Trinity
- .. Park, Bickenhill Lane, B37
7ES, Birmingham, United
Kingdom
Pencrete Limited England and Wales 100 *, o
“Purfleet A Aggregates Limited England and Wales“mmw' f5() T
Samuel Wilkinson & Sons Limited England and Wales 100 *
Seagoe Concrete Products Limited  England and Wales 100 * .
Small Lots (Mix-It) Limited . England and Wales 100 *
" Smiths Concrete Limited 100 * o
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Group
Country of ownership

Name incorporation % Registered office

Solent Industrial Estates Limited England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX,
New Milton, United

o __Kingdom

Terrain Plant (Holdings) Limited England and Wales 100 *

The Purfleet Ship to Shore Conveyor  England and Wales 50 *

Company Limited

W.G. Hibbs & Co. Limited England and Wales 49 Caird Avenue, BH25 5PX,

New Miiton, United
Kingdom

* The registered office of the investments is Second Floor, Arena Court, Crown Lane, Maidenhead,

Berkshire, SL6 8QZ, United Kingdom.

The registered office of Agecroft Management Ltd was changed after the year end to 13 Floor, Nova
South, 160 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 5LB, United Kingdom.
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